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Foreword
Clinical Commissioning Groups are now two years old. It seems like a lot longer, and we
have achieved a huge amount. This second Annual report serves to detail the work that has
been done, and in many cases is still ongoing. Our Operational Plan last year was based
around the 5 Domains of the NHS Outcome Framework, and therefore our work has been
grouped under these headings. The report in full details the work which has been
undertaken, but I would like to emphasise some highlights.
Within Domain One – Preventing People From Dying Prematurely, we have looked hard at
the local uptake for cancer screening. This has resulted in NHS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group being ranked within the top 20% of all Clinical Commissioning Groups
in the country. More work clearly needs to be done, and we have delivered educational
sessions amongst General Practitioners and Practice Nurses to raise cancer awareness.
Domain Two – Enhancing Quality Of Life For People With Long term Conditions gives me an
opportunity to mention the ongoing work to develop Integrated Community Teams which will
be up and running in the coming year. These teams will provide patient-centred, multidisciplinary, holistic care for frail and vulnerable people. We will be enhancing these teams
by putting in place Mental Health teams working alongside General Practitioners and other
Community Staff. In addition, we have reviewed and then developed a Stroke Rehabilitation
Team to significantly enhance the outcomes and experience for this specific group of
patients.
Turning to Domain Three – Helping People To Recover From Episodes Of Ill Health Or
Following Injury, I would draw your attention to our Short Term Assessment, Intervention,
Recovery and Rehabilitation Service (STAIRRS). This service will help to move the
emphasis from hospital based services to community based ones. Close working with our
Local Authority, Cheshire West and Chester will make this service a reality.
Domain Four – Ensuring That People Have A Positive Experience Of Care enables the
Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure that we tackle unacceptable levels of care, such as
documented in the Francis and Winterbourne View reports. By moving the breast cancer
chemotherapy service from The Christie Hospital in Manchester, to Leighton Hospital in
Crewe reduces the need for patients to travel for treatment. We have also done a lot of work
around people at the end of their lives, encouraging General Practitioners to use an
electronic shared care record for palliative care patients which is accessible across the
health care system.
Finally, Domain Five – Treating And Caring For People In A Safe Environment And
Protecting Them From Avoidable Harm focusses on how we can avoid people experiencing
adverse events when being seen and c ared for. Our Quality and S afeguarding Team
ensures that the patient is at the centre of all work we so, and has supported the continued
adoption of the four facets of quality: Care, Accessibility, Safety and E ffectiveness, along
with the 6C’s (Care, Compassion, Competence, Communication, Courage, Commitment).
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I would wish to commend this Annual Report to you. Communicating our successes is just
as important as communicating our plans. We sit at an interesting and exciting moment,
where much hard work has been done, and w here we are about to see the fruits of that
labour. NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a solid foundation
from where we can now move forwards confidently. We are already seeing benefits to our
patients, and I firmly believe those outcomes will continue to improve.

Dr Jonathan Griffiths, GP Chair NHS Vale Royal CCG
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1. Introduction
1.1.

Who we are

Who is NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group?
NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) covers a population of 102,490
people and has a budget of just under £123.679 million to commission health services in
Vale Royal. The CCG comprises 12 member GP practices across Winsford, Northwich and
surrounding rural areas. We are here to improve health and healthcare for everyone living in
these areas.
We exist to improve the health and healthcare of the local population. Our aim is to use the
local knowledge of our GPs and their practice teams to develop the way that health services
are delivered and help our patients to make full use of the services that are available. We
are committed to making a difference!

Vale Royal CCG area with GP practices:

We have responsibility for designing local health care services and w ill do t his by
commissioning or buying health and care services including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Elective hospital care
Rehabilitation care
Urgent and emergency care
Most community health services
Mental health and learning disability services
Emergency and patient transport services
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We work with patients and heal thcare professionals and i n partnership with local
communities and l ocal authorities. Clinical commissioning groups are also responsible for
arranging emergency and ur gent care services within their boundaries, and for
commissioning services for any unregistered patients who live in their area. All GP practices
across the country will have to belong to a clinical commissioning group.
Our main secondary care\acute provider is Mid Cheshire Hospitals Foundation Trust
(MCHFT), which is situated just outside Crewe. Mental health services are provided by
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Trust and East Cheshire Community Business Unit
(which forms part of East Cheshire NHS Trust) provides community health services, such as
district nursing, health visiting and therapy services.
Around a t hird of NHS Vale Royal CCG population live in local communities that are
described as ’deprived’; based on employment, income, living environment and education,
skills and training. The diagram below illustrates just some of the population characteristics
and health challenges facing Vale Royal services.

A Summary of our CCG, its population and its characteristics
Population and Characteristic breakdown for Vale Royal CCG

Understanding the needs of Vale Royal residents
NHS Vale Royal CCG know and under stand that there is clear evidence that people’s
health, their access to health services and experiences of services are affected by their age,
gender, disability, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion/belief, transgender, marital/civil
partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status. Further information relating to our local
population and our health inequalities can be found on page 41.
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1.2.

Our Team

Our Constitution has been updated and ratified by NHS England. Our Constitution states
that, as a Membership Assembly, we delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively
and efficiently run the CCG on our behalf.
Our organisational structure can be found in appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Assembly and Governing Body, together with its Committees and Sub Committees and the
lines of reporting and communication.
Our CCG team is clinically led and comprises of clinicians, a small management team and
two Lay Members. We also have a Secondary Care Doctor and an E xecutive Nurse Lead
who form part of the Governing Body.
Our GPs and c linicians have a wealth of local knowledge, clinical expertise and a r eal
passion to improve health and c are for the people within our local communities. We have
GPs who lead on specific pieces of work in Service Quality and Safety, Children and Young
People, Mental Health and Learning Disabilities, Medicines Management, as well as Primary
Care Quality. We see clinical involvement as a vital ingredient to support us to continue to
strive for an improvement in clinical outcomes for our population, whilst ensuring that we are
able to deliver the service changes that are required and that the local care system remains
sustainable with regards to meeting the increased demand. Our two Lay Members hold
portfolio roles and r esponsibilities for Governance and A udit and P atient and P ublic
Engagement.
When we formed as a CCG on 1st April 2013 we took the local decision, with our members,
to create a shared management team with our neighbouring CCG, NHS South Cheshire
CCG. We have continued with this structure to ensure that we work more efficiently and
have a r eal focus on u sing every pound o f taxpayers money in as effective manner as
possible. In adopting this approach we also strive to acknowledge local differences within
our population and l ocal communities. On this basis we have our own Governing Bodies
supporting the two respective CCGs who are then further supported by the shared
management team. The shared management team makes sense given that the main
providers of acute, community and mental health care are the same across the two CCGs.
During 2014-2015 NHS Vale Royal CCG employed 31 WTE members of staff across a
range of disciplines within the shared management team this also includes the hosting of the
medicines management team. Included within the head count, NHS Vale Royal CCG hosts
the Medicines Management Service which operates across three CCGS including Vale
Royal and the Adult and Children’s Safeguarding Service which operates across two CCGs
including Vale Royal.
CCG Head Count

Total

Administrative and Clerical
(inclusive of managerial staff)

25

Medical and Dental

2

Nursing and Midwifery Registered

1

Add Prof Scientific and Technical

3

Total

31
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Sickness Absence
In the rolling 12 month period there were 119 whole time equivalent days lost to sickness.
At the end of March 2015 there was an average of 4.8 days sickness absence per WTE.

1.2.1 We are an Equal Opportunity Employer
As a C linical Commissioning Group, we are committed to equality of opportunity for all
employees and ar e committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which
ensure that no employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the
grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status,
religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political
affiliation or any other personal characteristic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any
other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively
and, in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s
experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through our policies ensuring that
employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensuring that employees,
and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and a ct in accordance with the
Equality and Diversity Policy. Failure to do so will result in the disciplinary procedure being
instigated, which could result in dismissal.
We have an Equality and Diversity Policy that has been approved by Staff Side Partners and
ratified by the Governing Body. Further details regarding equality and diversity can be found
on page 53.

1.2.2 Staff Partnership Forum
We acknowledge that the effective and pr oductive conduct of employee relations benefits
significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role in
partnership working. In support of this, we agreed to actively participate in the Cheshire and
Merseyside Staff Partnership Forum. This forum aims to both identify, and facilitate, the
workforce and em ployment aspects of the NHS locally in developing arrangements to
implement required changes that may affect the workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the main body for actively engaging, consulting and
negotiating with key staff side stakeholders (including Trade Union representatives). T he
committee is authorised to agree, revise and review policies and procedures that may relate
to changes in employment legislation and regulation or terms and conditions of employment
effecting staff covered by the national Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions. Any
policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum are then subject to formal ratification by
the Governing Body on behalf of the CCG.

1.2.3 Staff Support
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive
wellbeing of its employees as we understand that the health and wellbeing of the workforce
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is crucial to the delivery of improvements in patient care envisaged in the NHS Constitution.
All staff has access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service including support for
Visual Unit Display (VDU) users and confidential counselling services.
As a CCG, we have continued to hold health and wellbeing events for our staff and within
the Human Resources and Organisational Strategy the section on w ell-being has been
reviewed and strengthened for the forthcoming year.

1.2.4 Workforce Development
As a CCG, we recognise that our employees are our most valuable assets. Both our
management and clinical team are highly skilled and extremely passionate about improving
patient outcomes, people’s experience of care and ensuring that patients are at the heart of
all decision-making within the CCG. Over the past year the CCG has adopted a new
Learning Management System designed by the North West Commissioning Support Unit
(CSU). T he new system delivers the statutory and m andatory training to ensure our
workforce have the knowledge and expertise required to ensure they are compliant with the
CCG policies and procedures required to protect themselves and others.
We have adopted an a nnual appraisal system in order to support the performance and
development of our staff and this is further underpinned by regular 1-1 discussions with line
managers throughout the year. O ur Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference state
that the current organisation’s objectives and appr aisal system is the method by which
performance and achievement of corporate objectives are measured.
We actively engage our team in organisational and per sonal development opportunities.
This year a number of the team have taken an ac tive part in National Leadership
Development Programmes such as NHS Top Leaders, Nye Bevan, Mary Seacole, Elizabeth
Grant Anderson Programme and the Aspiring Talent Programme (NHS Leadership
Academy). Our clinicians are also enthusiastically involved in regional and nat ional
networks and hav e undertaken development work supported by the Advancing Quality
Alliance (AQuA). Our three work programmes of Starting Well, Living Well and Ageing Well
have also undertaken a number of development opportunities.
As a CCG we are keen to reach out to engage with a wide range of people within our
communities and with colleagues working in health and social care to create joint
opportunities to learning and dev elopment i.e. safeguarding multi-agency training, joint
leadership training.
NHS Vale Royal CCG is committed to deliver new models of care in the future and for the
NHS to be sustainable and provide quality joined-up care. As such, we are committed to the
delivery of our ‘Connecting Care Strategy’ with our social, community, acute and mental
health providers. This Strategy also describes how we will equip our staff and managers
with the skills and leadership ability to work effectively in theses prescribed new models of
care. In particular these areas of the strategy will focus on the development of a leadership
academy.
At NHS Vale Royal CCG we believe the delivery of high quality health care is underpinned
by the development of a workforce that has the right numbers, skills, values and
behaviours. To achieve this goal, we recognise we have a role to play in the identification of
what these ‘right’ numbers, skills, values and behaviours are, and then influence our Local
Education and Training Board (LETB) to support their delivery. D uring 2015/16 we will
explore our planned service transformation initiatives; developing workforce proposals reflect
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the needs of our Connecting Care Strategy and the challenge of changing and gr owing
health needs.

1.2.5 Human Resources and Organisational Strategy
During 2014/15 the CCG has reviewed its Human Resources and Organisational
Development strategy which will be launched during quarter 2 of 2015/16. This is viewed as
an important piece of work and we have taken the time during our first year to listen and to
understand the issues in order to help shape this crucial document.

1.3.

Who we work with

As a CCG, we recognise that it is how we work with our partners that will really make a
difference to the health outcomes of our population. We work in partnership with a number
of other organisations and agencies. Over the last year we have further developed and
strengthened our relationships across the Cheshire footprint and beyond. As a CCG we are
accountable to NHS England, and work closely with the NHS England Area Team (covering
Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral). The NHS England Area Team regularly seeks assurance
from us regarding our commissioning responsibilities. Within the past year we have had
three quarterly assurance visits. A t each of the quarterly assurance meetings we have
received positive feedback from the NHS England Area Team. Through these meetings we
have built successful relationships and we envisage that this will continue going forward.
We collaborate with NHS South Cheshire CCG, NHS Western Cheshire CCG and our local
authority, Cheshire West and Chester Council. During the last year we have continued to
co-operate, pool resources, and w ork together to best meet the needs of our local
communities. An example of this is the really positive progress that has been made to
support the development of the Better Care Fund submission. Our team have also worked
very closely to support the development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the
population of western Cheshire. We are also a key partner in the development of the
transformation plan across all health and social care partners for Connecting Care.
As a C CG we have actively contributed to the development of the strategies and work
closely with our colleagues in health and social care. During the coming year we will seek to
further engage with our partners via the Health and Wellbeing Board as well as the
Connecting Care Board.
The Health and Wellbeing Board Partnership Network, of which our CCG participates in, has
a valuable role to play in addressing the priorities contained in the Health and Wellbeing
strategy. It brings together leaders from key organisations to enable change and this
Network is ideally placed to overcome barriers by working together.
Each of the partners involved in developing the strategy have strategies and action plans to
address short-term and specific health and wellbeing needs. We believe that the value of
the Health and Wellbeing Board - and of this strategy - is in addressing issues that we can
influence the most as a partnership and over time, not just in any financial year. The aim of
the strategy is not to provide an ex tensive list of initiatives that partners will implement to
promote better health; rather it focuses on the most complex and c ritical needs of our
population and w ill be ev aluated and updat ed on a r egular basis in the light of progress,
feedback and the evolving needs of our communities.
We receive Commissioning Support Services from North West Commissioning Support Unit.
(NWCSU). The Commissioning Support Unit supports our CCG and NHS England in
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undertaking their commissioning responsibilities and delivering the best possible outcomes
for patients.
We work with NWCSU as a k ey partner. There is a S ervice Level Agreement established
between the CCGs and the CSU to manage the quality of the services that the CSU
provides and this runs until March 2016. The services that are provided to the CSU are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Technology Support (Information and Communication Technology)
Business Intelligence and Data Management
Process Centre and Governance Support (Individual Funding Requests,
Information Governance, Compliance and Assurance Claims)
Communications Support
Human Resources Support
Procurement Advice and Guidance
Continuing Health Care (CHC) – during 2014-15 Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral
CCGs established a shared service to deliver the CHC service. The North West
Commissioning Support Unit (NW CSU) continues to provide Contract Advice
and Data Management Support for this service.

This support is developed through a locality model so that our services can be understood
and accessed locally. Each of these functions has a locality lead. CSU and CCG staff share
office space to enhance the way that the two organisations work together.
We are proud to work with, and continue to develop links to, our biggest community assets in
terms of both the third and voluntary sector organisations. Across Cheshire we work with
numerous organisations to provide health and care support services, but to also deepen our
community engagement work. We firmly believe that the public are key partners in
developing how care should be provided and should directly influence what good care looks
like.

1.4.

Engaging our patients and local community

NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) holds patient and public involvement
in high regards and believes that true success occurs when we share, involve and engage
with our local population. Much emphasis has been placed on ensuring this has occurred in
the last 12 months and effort and time is being put in to ensure public engagement increases
and strengthens over the coming year and beyond.
By working with our patients, stakeholders and partners we
seek to embed sustainable engagement in the health and
social care system working with our partners and view it as key
to achieving excellent, safe and quality services. We consider
our local population to be t he experts; knowing what services
and support they may need and want.
NHS Vale Royal CCG has a wide range of stakeholders it also involves and communicates
with in order to achieve set objectives. We recognise the huge value that the Voluntary
Sector can bring to the CCG in tackling some of the challenges we face delivering care to
our local population. We believe the voluntary and community sector is a valuable resource
that has in-depth local knowledge about Vale Royal. The CCG has taken time to gather this
intelligence and f ocus insight to drive our commissioning intentions for 2014-16. The
information helps us to build up our understanding of the local needs as well as any gaps in
services within Vale Royal. We can then, together, plan how to address these.
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All 12 GP practices within across Vale Royal have Patient Participation Groups (PPGs)
based in their GP practice with 2 being virtual. PPGs are patient groups that come together
to discuss how the practice can be improved and made more efficient in delivering care to its
patients.
The Vale Royal Health Forum has continued to grow and be s trengthened with a c ore
membership from PPGs, stakeholders, community and third sector organisations.
As a C CG we see this as a vital part of our desire to keep patients and the public at the
centre of its decision making process. Using the expertise and k nowledge of patients and
groups who represent local people who use health services will ensure that we commission
services that our patients and public want and need. This forum will continue to evolve and
be a t rue representation of the population of Vale Royal and r ecently we have been
continuing our relationship with our local Youth Parliament to encourage young people’s
voices to be heard regarding health and health services.
As our healthcare landscape continues to evolve, we recognise that it is important that
relationships are developed with key stakeholders and pr oviders. Investing time to build
relationships is a worthwhile venture to allow for strong, effective partnership working in the
coming years and to provide wider insight and under standing about the priorities of local
people. NHS Vale Royal CCG has worked very closely with Cheshire West to help
strengthen public and patient voice in the area and i nfluence positive change. Both
organisations are committed to openness and t ransparency and en gaging with the local
community to ensure that diverse and seldom heard voices have a platform from which to be
heard.
We have been committed to proactively seeking the views of the public, patients, their carers
and other stakeholders to consult widely across all levels of decision making and putting into
action the direction from the Secretary of State for Health, ‘no decision about me, without
me’.

1.4.1 Specific Public Consultation
Over the last year we have carried out a num ber of engagement / consultation activities.
These include:
•
•

•

Paediatric pathway review – to understand the behaviours and experiences behind
increasing hospital admissions in the 0-5 year old age group. Recommendations were
also given following this review
Operational plan review – to showcase and i nvite comments and feedback on the
content, format and style of the public facing operational plan for NHS Vale Royal
Clinical Commissioning Group. A diverse range of groups were included in this
consultation including our Health Forum, employees and Cheshire West and Chester
youth senate
Quality and safeguarding strategy consultation – to introduce the strategy to colleagues,
patients and publ ic to determine and t ake feedback as to whether it is suitable and
appropriate to take forward to embed

We have also provided responses to a number of external consultations and policy reviews,
including:
•
•

Healthwatch Cheshire West and C hester – identifying gaps in service provision for
disabled children/young people and their families
Veterans and armed forces service leavers strategy
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•
•

With Cheshire West and Chester Council - ‘My life, my say’ – service planning for
patients with learning disabilities
Cheshire West and Chester Health and Wellbeing Strategy

1.4.2 Programme Specific engagement and outcomes
During the year, we have carried out our work under three Strategic Programmes:
•
•
•

Starting Well
Living Well
Ageing Well

In addition to delivering transformational change, these programmes deliver core business
around performance, contract management, risk management, quality improvement and
assurance and financial probity.
We have also undertaken partnership commissioning alongside other CCGs, local
authorities and N HS England. Our programme approach brings clarity to our work and
projects and aligns with our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The following section provides some examples of our work (it is not an exhaustive list):
•

Starting Well – The starting well team understand that to communicate meaningfully
with their broad range of stakeholders they need to use a breadth of communications
and engagement channels. Face to face focus groups were held to engage directly
and to receive feedback and insight into the current service provision and to gauge
feeling and understanding of proposed commissioning intentions. Although this is
an incredibly effective channel it isn't suitable for all and a range of digital and online
solutions were developed to ensure the starting well team engaged and involved
these audiences. It was well used by young people who in particular prefer an online
platform for engagement. To support this online platform in an educational setting
our clinical lead spent time at schools and youth forums to discuss the rights of a
young person and how their voice can be heard in health care.

•

Living Well – A review of services available for veterans of the armed forces,
reservists and their families due t o the high numbers of depression, anxiety and
alcohol abuse in this cohort of patients. To date a consultation has been undertaken
across the CCG and following this the service specification has been updated. The
community pain management service has been reviewed and a revised service
specification developed, engagement and involvement events ensured that patient’s
feedback and experiences were fed back into the specification process.

•

Ageing Well – We have continued to engage with our local population at a range of
local events and promoted various initiatives including ‘Think Pharmacy’. The local
carers surveys (one for each local authority area) has been i ssued to the local
community in November 2014 with the results expected shortly. In January 2015 a
series of information and eng agement sessions for and w ith our local carers were
undertaken, in conjunction with partnering CCGs and the local authorities. This
provided valuable information and f eedback on local services, and requirements for
the future and this has been incorporated in recent commissioning plans and i nto
the revised Joint Carers Strategy (which is currently – April 2015- in course of
ratification).
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As part of our pain management review the CCG held a focus group with a number
of people from the Expert Patients programme (both patients and volunteer trainers)
to help inform and shape the service outcomes as part of developing the specification
for the procurement. I t is our intention to 'recruit' one or two of those individuals
to our evaluation panel at the stage where bidders are asked to present their service
model to commissioners, to ensure that what their proposing is evaluated from the
perspective of a patient who lives with Chronic pain and has learnt to 'live well' with it.

1.4.3. Patient Case Studies
The CCG holds patient and public involvement in high regard and believes that true success
occurs when we share, involve and engage with our local population. We have a real desire
to make a difference to the communities of Vale Royal and want to enable all residents to
have a voice in local health services and decision making. This is underpinned by our belief
that patient and carer experiences are critical in supporting us to improve quality and reduce
variations in service and health inequalities.
Here is an ex ample of a patient sharing their experiences and w here we have made a
difference:
Pat’s story
At 78, Pat is independent and lives at home on her own since her husband passed away two
years ago. After she had a stroke while out shopping, Pat spent three months in Leighton
Hospital while she recovered.
Pat says the care she received at Leighton was brilliant and helped her to get her confidence
back. On leaving hospital, Pat had an as sessment which looked at her health and care
needs, including her circumstances at home and her ongoing health needs.
She received some help at home for a short period until she felt confident to manage by
herself, with help from family.
Pat received physiotherapy in the community, with her physiotherapist even accompanying
her to her local gym to work on her exercises. This is an example of how improvements can
make a difference ensuring services look at a patient’s entire needs, joining up their care.

1.5.

Our progress and performance

As a member organisation we have accepted the local health priorities during 2014/15 in our
business plan. The table below highlights some of the key priorities for last year, and also
our view as Members of the progress to date. This is not an ex haustive list but seeks to
provide the reader with a flavour of our work during 2014-15.

Our Progress During 2014-15
DOMAIN ONE – PREVENTING PEOPLE FROM DYING PREMATURELY
NHS Vale Royal CCG aims to prevent people from dying prematurely by promoting good
health and di scouraging decisions and behav iours that put people’s health at risk. Where
people do dev elop a heal th condition, we aim to commission services that diagnose this
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early and manage it within the community so that it does not deteriorate:
Early Diagnosis
of Cancer

Due to the excellent work undertaken over the last year there has
been a reduction in early deaths for people under 75.
•

Within the last year the CCG has worked to improve the cancer
screening uptake across the locality.

•

Due to this success the CCG is now ranked in the top 20% of
all CCGs in England.

•

Bowel, breast and c ervical screening uptakes have slightly
improved.

•

Bowel, cervical and br east screening uptakes are higher than
the national average.

•

24 Educational sessions have been run within primary care to
raise cancer awareness and to improve the local knowledge
of the primary care workforce and t he Macmillan risk
assessment tools in place to help detect cancer earlier.

•

22 Practice Nurses attended a 6 da y Macmillan Cancer course
in September to help them identify cancer, enable them to refer
for diagnostics to consider a cancer diagnosis and support their
patients going through and living with the effects of cancer.

•

There have been c ancer focused Protected Learning Time
events held across both NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale
Royal CCGs that were attended by 140 primary care clinicians.

Specialist
The Starting Well team has been actively engaged in the
Educational
development and implementation of the Children and Families Act
Needs
and 2014 SEND reforms with Cheshire West and Chester Council (NHS
VRCCG) and Cheshire East Council (NHS SCCCG).
Disabilities
(SEND)
• Joint Commissioning: the CCGs have worked successfully with
both local councils to jointly develop a c hildren and y oung
people’s SEND joint commissioning strategy and pr iority work
plan which is now being implemented
•

The CCGs have a legislative duty to provide a Designated
Clinical Officer to act on behalf of the CCG and oversee the
health contribution to the Education Health and Care process

•

The Designated Clinical Officer has been jointly commissioned
by both NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
in conjunction with Eastern Cheshire CCG via a one y ear
contract with East Cheshire NHS Trust. Feedback from local
authorities and heal th staff has shown that the Designated
Clinical Officer role has been an invaluable source of
information, guidance and staff support and has ensured the
CCG has met its statutory requirements. This role is already
showing that this new role has been an invaluable source of
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information, guidance and staff support and has ensured the
CCG has met its statutory requirements.
Learning
Disabilities
Mortality

Risk
Stratification

The Health Inequalities Framework has been developed to ensure we
have adequate outcome measures to demonstrate the impact of
service interventions on t he health and w ellbeing of people with
learning disabilities. I t is based on t he five determinants of health
inequalities - it enables services to demonstrate the impact of
interventions on individuals. The Health Equality Framework has been
introduced to Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
services for people with Learning Disabilities through a Commission for
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) scheme in 2014/15. It is hoped that
by undertaking these screening programmes undetected health
conditions would be highlighted and treated accordingly to extend the
life expectancy of this cohort of patients. Phase one of the project has
been to obtain data from primary care to enable a retrospective review
of patient care and t his is underway with early results identifying the
values of a “ case study” approach. Work continues in phase two to
collect secondary care data.
The CCG has purchased a patient record system (EMIS – Egton
Medical Information System) that is a risk stratification tool which will
be deployed across all the GP practices within the CCG in April 2015.

DOMAIN TWO – ENHANCING QUALITY OF LIFE FOR PEOPLE WITH LONG TERM
CONDITIONS
NHS Vale Royal CCG is committed to supporting people to be as independent and healthy
as possible if they live with a long-term condition such as heart disease, COPD or
depression, preventing any complications and the need to go into hospital. If they do need
to be treated in hospital, the CCG will support NHS provider services to work with social
care and other services to ensure that people are supported to leave hospital and recover in
the community.
Integrated
Community
Teams

There has been s ignificant planning for the delivery of the integrated
community team in 2014/15. The Provider Board set up an Integrated
Community Services Steering Group which has produced a delivery
plan for the teams has been pr esented and a pproved by the CCG
Clinical Commissioning Executive (CCE). These teams will form a
major element of the Better Care Fund submissions on bo th the
Cheshire West and C hester Council and C heshire East Council
footprints in 2015/16. This plan was approved by the CCE and t he
Provider Board is now working on delivering this plan on a staged
implementation through 2015/16 with pilot areas being identified in both
Vale Royal and South Cheshire.

Paediatric
Pathways 0 – 5
Admissions

The Starting Well team looked at data and found that a high proportion
of admissions for the 0-5s which were 0 da ys length of stay were for
respiratory illness. E ngagement events have taken place to get
feedback from minority groups and specific cohorts of parents to enable
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us to have a bet ter understanding of how they use the current urgent
care system. The team has been working to look at alterative pathways
for children and they have introduced a “wheezy child” pathways for
children with respiratory problems.
Children with
Long Term
Conditions

Work is continuing across the CCG to improve the health of children
with long term conditions. The CCG has developed a CQUIN with Mid
Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (MCHfT) around Transition
for Young people with long term conditions with a focus on diabetes this
will be implemented from 1st April 2015.

Memory
Services with
Dementia

The CCG has successfully developed a shared care arrangement for
primary and s econdary care to ensure that patients living with
dementia and their carers\families are well supported and achieve the
best possible outcomes. A consultation and engagement process has
been undertaken with local stakeholders to review the existing
services. This work will be pi cked up within the primary care mental
health team review as this links with shifting the resource from
secondary into primary care and commissioning additional dementia
support services from the third sector. Work has continued with
existing providers of dementia services and the third sector, to model
the increased resource required to deliver the improved dementia
support.

Personality
Disorder

National statistics highlight that this cohort of patients have a hi gher
than average incidence of self-harm and suicide. The CCG undertook a
review to look at the services provided by Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) for people suffering with a
personality disorder. A business case has been developed to support
the delivery of a multi-disciplinary complex care team that would enable
CWP to increase the number of patients they treat each year by offering
a wide range of therapies to suit the various cohorts of patients who
suffer with this condition.

Primary Care
Mental Health
Team

Working closely with the Integrated Community Teams programme,
this team will deliver a coordinated healthcare system that will benefit
our local population. The ai m of the project is to deliver high quality
care that result in improved health and wellbeing and a better
experience for adults with complex care needs. This team will include
a review of liaison psychiatry teams and memory clinics. Within year
one there have been comprehensive reviews of the teams that already
exist that have fed into their individual business cases. F rom these
business cases it was decided that there would form part of the
business case for a Primary Care Mental Health Team. The business
case was presented in July 2014; following this a c onsultation and
engagement review was held with stakeholders.

Stroke
Rehabilitation

The stroke rehabilitation pathway was reviewed and a s pecialist
community stroke rehabilitation team has been dev eloped to assist
early supported discharge from hospital to home or from a stroke unit
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Pathway

this new service has a direct benefit for all of the 5 of the domains from
the NHS outcomes framework benefit. The procurement process has
now been completed with East Cheshire NHS Trust being awarded the
contract.

DOMAIN THREE – HELPING PEOPLE TO RECOVER FROM EPISODES OF ILL
HEALTH OR FOLLOWING INJURY
There has been an ev er-increasing demand on our hospitals over the past 10 y ears – a
35% increase in people being admitted to hospital as an emergency and a 65% increase in
the episodes of care in hospitals for over 75s. Patients in our hospitals are older and frailer,
and around 25% have a di agnosis of dementia. (Source: NHS England). Care that is not
joined up, particularly between health and s ocial care services, is causing increased
admission and readmission amongst those with long term conditions and the elderly. The
outcomes of care vary significantly across the country. NHS Vale Royal CCG is committed
to ensuring that if people do experience an episode of ill health or suffer an injury, our NHS
provider services should treat them effectively and support them to recover and restore their
maximum independence as quickly as possible.
Intermediate
care services
review

A vision for the future provision of intermediate care and reablement
services to be k nown at Short Term Assessment, Intervention,
Recovery and R ehabilitation Service (STAIRRS) has been
created. STAIRRS seeks to bring together existing intermediate care,
reablement and other community support services to shift the balance
of provision from acute bed based services to community step up and
home based health and social care support to improve patient
outcomes and del iver more cost effective, sustainable care. This
scheme is an el ement of the Better Care Fund submissions on bot h
the Cheshire West and Chester Council and C heshire East Council
footprints and will be delivered going forward by the Provider Board
through the Integrated Community Team and Urgent and Rapid Care
schemes.

24/7 urgent care
review

The Review is aimed at delivering an urgent care system across health
and social care that is responsive to patient need and delivers quality
care in the most suitable setting. Within 2014 the outline business
case was devised by the CCG and the development of protocols and
processes has taken place with our providers to support the integration
of the Emergency Department, the Urgent Care Centre and our GP
Out of Hours service. The CCG is currently developing clear and
concise outcomes for the project.

Cancer
diagnosis and
treatment
pathways
compliant with
NICE Guidance

In order to be c ompliant with National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence (NICE) Improving Outcome guidance - gynaecological and
urology cancer pathways have been r eviewed during 2014-15, this
pathway review was also required due to health inequality and
population health need reports and commissioning for value
recommendations for both lung and Upper Gastrointestinal (GI) cancer
pathways. Specialised commissioning led the gynaecological review in

20

2014 and following this the CCG and Specialist Commissioning Team
have accomplished the implementation of improved new providers and
a revised pathway that is compliant with NICE Improving Outcomes
guidance. There has been a reduction in specialised centres for
gynaecological cancer across Manchester and Cheshire from four to
two centres in line with national best practice guidance and
rationalisation of specialised centres.
Think Pharmacy

The Think Pharmacy Minor Ailments service is now live and
implemented providing our population with greater access to advice and
treatment for minor ailments. This work has been an important part of
the CCGs self care self management scheme and al so part of the
“choose well” campaigns.

NHS111

There was a f ormal announcement on 13th March 2015 t o say that
North West Ambulance Service along with First Choice Medical Supply
and Urgent Care 24 had been successful with their bids to provide the
NHS 111 service. North West Ambulance Service will continue as the
stability provider until 30th September 2015.

DOMAIN FOUR – ENSURING THAT PEOPLE HAVE A POSITIVE EXPERIENCE OF
CARE
Positive patient experience is common in NHS. However, care is inconsistent, as seen in
recent examples of the unacceptable care documented in the Francis and Winterbourne
View reports. The poorest care is often received by those least likely to make complaints,
exercise choice or have family to speak up for them, and there is evidence of unequal
access to care. Patient experience is everybody’s business, yet evidence suggests the
NHS does not consistently deliver patient-centred care, and that there are particular
challenges in coordinating services around the needs of the patient (rather than passing the
patient between services). Good patient experience is associated with improved clinical
outcomes and contributes to patients having control over their own health. We also know
that good staff experience is fundamental for ensuring good patient experience. NHS Vale
Royal CCG are both committed to achieving and supporting our providers to achieve
consistently: compassion and respect for patient’s preferences and expressed needs; equal
access to services; good communication and information; physical comfort; emotional
support; welcoming the involvement of family and friends. As CCGs we will continue to
improve the mechanisms by which we seek out, listen to and ac t on patient feedback,
ensuring the patient and carer voice is heard and directly influences improvements across
our health and social care landscape.
Chemotherapy
reform and
actue oncology

The focus of this work is to improve patient outcomes of people going
through treatment for cancer and to provide cancer services closer to
home. In February 2014 the breast chemotherapy service was moved
from The Christies Hospital to Leighton Hospital. In April 2014 the CCG
secured Macmillan funding to support the development of an ac ute
oncology service to be provided in the community. A communications
plan and educ ation regarding the community acute oncology have
been developed for primary care colleagues in (February
2015). Through this work programme the CCG has enabled patients to
travel less distance for their chemotherapy treatments therefore
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improving a positive patient experience outcome.
Dementia
Services for
people at End of
Life

The CCG in partnership with our local hospices and D ementia UK
have agreed to run a two year pilot commissioning a dementia end of
life service to enhance the quality of experiences and care for patients
with dementia, their carers and family members. The team which
comprises of an A dmiral Nurse, Macmillan Nurse, Speech and
Language Therapist, Educationalist and Social Work Team Leader was
operational from February 2015. They are working with the wider
workforce proving education, training and co-working clinically with
complex cases. External evaluation with support from the University of
Liverpool is in place and m easures of the outcomes of this team are
underway.

Co-ordinated
End of Life Care

This project has been dev eloped to ensure high quality, co-ordinated
end of life care pathways across all care settings that respects patients
and carers choice. This builds upon other work to transform our local
people's end of life experience by supporting seamless care from all
partners to local people in their last year of life. The end o f life
partnership was launched in April 2014 and i nvolved the merging of
three existing work streams - education and pr actice development,
service facilitation / development and publ ic health and well-being. A
new work stream has been added f ocused on r esearch and
evaluation. A total of 32 s takeholders support the End of Life
Partnership including four local CCG's, three hospices, three acute
hospitals, two local councils as well as community partners. The End of
Life Partnership supports the effective delivery of all our
local outcomes for best quality co-ordinated end of life care.

Child
Adolescent
Mental Health
Service
Specification
review

A review has taken place of the Child Adolescent Mental Health Service
(CAMHS) to ensure the provision across tiers 2 and 3 m eet the needs
of the children and young people within our localities. A baseline review
by Mental Health Strategies, an i ndependent consultancy, has taken
place to gather information on the service provisions currently provided
by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership Trust. Following the baseline
review a review of the mental health strategies took place providing the
CCG with assurance on the quality of the provider with
recommendations on future commissioning and contract management
of the service. Joint commissioning of the CAMHS service is in early
development with the local authorities and neighbouring CCGs. Further
development of these services are to take place over the next financial
year.

Electronic
Palliative Care
Coordination
System
(EPACCS)

This project is to develop an E lectronic Palliative Care Coordination
System (EPaCCS) to incorporate an electronic shared care record that
can be accessed across the health care system. This would enable
health and third sector providers to have access to patient records that
would provide them with the most up to date information of the patient’s
current health status and c hoices and w ishes for their EOL
care reducing the need of the patient to replicate information relating to
their last year of life. This will prevent unnecessary admissions to
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hospital, inappropriate attempts of resuscitation and anticipatory care
available.
Seven day
working

Work has continued to be undertaken to progress the 24/7 integrated
urgent care system as documented above. Work has now commenced
with the “alliance” as part of the Local Quality Scheme transformation
plans to look at 24/7 access within primary care.

Electronic
Prescribing

All of the 12 GP practices across NHS Vale Royal CCG have signed up
to electronic prescribing.

DOMAIN FIVE – TREATING AND CARING FOR PEOPLE IN A SAFE ENVIRONMENT
AND PROTECTING THEM FROM AVOIDABLE HARM
Although research suggests around 90% of patients admitted to hospital will not experience
an adverse incident, around 10% of patients will experience an adverse event, half of which
are considered avoidable. Older patients are disproportionately affected by patient safety
incidents causing severe harm or death. Over a million patient safety incidents are reported
to the National Reporting and Learning System each year, over 90% of which involved low
or no harm. However, we know this is an underestimate of the true burden of harm NHS
Vale Royal CCG is committed to protecting people from avoidable harm and ensuring care
is provided in a safe environment.
Quality,
Nursing,
Safeguarding
and
Patient
Safety

Work has continued to take place across the two CCGs to ensure the
patient is at the centre of all the work undertaken within the Quality and
Safeguarding team. T his has included working with our local
stakeholders to gather patient, carer and s taff experience data and
evidence that impact the outcomes of our patients. Work continues to
improve systems and processes to assure quality in all commissioned
services and primary care to ensure standards and patient safety and
quality are met.

The Quality and
Performance
Committee

Ratified the NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal CCGs Quality
and Safeguarding Strategy and has supported the continued adoption
of the four facets of Quality, Care, Accessibility, Safety and
Effectiveness along with the 6C’s. E ngagement events were
undertaken to ‘test out’ the understanding of the strategy.

Safeguarding

The National Safeguarding Audit Tool has been further developed by
the safeguarding designated nurses during 2014/15. The Quality and
Performance Committee has reviewed and approved quality measures
regarding safeguarding in all NHS Standard contracts. The Committee
has reviewed findings from national surveys relating to patient
experience together with patient stories stemming from local
engagement exercises with commissioned health care providers. In
line with the Care Act 2014 the CCG now has a statutory duty to
safeguard adults at risk, the statutory requirement for children has been
in place for a number of years, both now execute their statutory
requirements in partnership with other agencies locally. We are
members of both statutory Safeguarding Adult/Children Boards and
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contribute to various working sub-groups to the boards that ensure
improvement in safeguarding activity continues. We have disseminated
the learning from a thematic review regarding suicide in young people
which was commissioned by the Local Safeguarding Children Board
and undertaken by an i ndependent reviewer. We have contributed to
the resulting action plan.

Other achievements that the CCG has delivered during the past 12 months are presented
throughout the plan and include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Primary care transformation with a focus on quality
Quality Premium achievement
Improved mortality with our local acute provider
Development of GP federations
Improved governance and decision making arrangements (Clinical Commissioning
Executive)
GP Care Home Scheme
The development of our local pioneer footprint
Techfund2 bid
Continuing Healthcare
System resilience\winter pressures

1.6.

Membership Assembly impact on outcomes 2014/15

Our Membership Assembly has continued to help shape the priority areas for the CCG
during 2014/15; to focus on the needs of our patients within our locality, based on the priority
areas of the CCG and the national health agendas and guidance.
Throughout the year we have:
•
•

•
•

•

Contributed to our Local Quality and CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation) schemes – where we support our local general practices and acute trusts
with projects to develop and improve local health outcomes.
Worked with partners, feeding into programmes of work which will impact on our local
patient populations and the health outcomes they impact. For example, the Cheshire
West and Chester Council Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership consultation
and the GP Mentored Care Home Schemes.
Working with our Starting Well Team is looking at the patient pathway for the
“Wheezy Child”
Discussed and debated the implications and outcomes requested from the Five Year
Forward View, looking to how we can build transformation and integration into the
work we do locally so that it becomes the “business as usual” for us and our service
providers.
Participated in a Li ving Well Team Urgent Care Workshop, which included
debate/discussions around
• 24/7 Integrated Urgent Care
• Reducing avoidable Emergency Department attendances
• Reducing avoidable urgent care admissions
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As well as this involvement with the examples presented above we have contributed active
debate and di scussion to the on-going development of our CCG; especially i n light of
national changes such as the joint co-commissioning programme with NHS England, and the
development of GP Federations.
We are looking forward to the challenges ahead that the Five Year Forward View and CoCommissioning presents. We are confident that, with our partners, we can commission
patient centred, high quality services for our patient population that will improve health
outcomes locally.

1.7.

Governing Body impact on outcomes

Our Governing Body, on behalf of the Membership Assembly, has ensured the CCG is well
managed and has met its statutory duties during this year. Our Governing Body has
continued to support the Membership Assembly to shape the future vision for the CCG. The
Governing Body has a good working relationship with the Membership Assembly in order to
shape the future vision of the CCG.
Our Governing Body has been crucial in ensuring the delivery of clinical leadership to ensure
the patient remains at the heart of everything we do and that patient services remain at a
high quality. The Governing Body has received regular update reports regarding the CCG’s
financial performance during the course of the financial year. D iscussions have involved
both clinicians and l ay members who have provided constructive challenge and d ebate in
the continuous monitoring of the CCG’s financial position. There have been occasions
throughout the year that have proved challenging however we have worked through these
issues and have delivered within budget.
Through scrutiny of quality and per formance data Governing Body have challenged
outcomes for the population of South Cheshire and V ale Royal in relation to mortality,
discharge, ambulance performance, stroke, and community services. Governing body lay
members and c linicians have worked jointly with CCG staff and providers to focus on the
patient journey, quality, experience and out comes. Governing Body members have
championed the wider stakeholder voice across the CCG and Connecting Care Strategy
through support for development of a frontline staff, patient and c arer expert reference
group. In response to hearing ‘Patient and/or carer stories’ at Governing Body, members
have requested further information/evidence of changes to practice as a r esult of
patient/carer experience and linked into provider meetings and forums to review impact and
outcomes.
The Governing Body has jointly worked on the prioritisation of the 2015/16 commissioning
intentions alongside lead clinicians and senior managers of both organisations in January
2015. This brought significant challenge from the Governing Body members to decide on the
focus of work for the forthcoming year. Particular emphasis was placed on health inequalities
as well as the need to deliver the NHS Constitution and the Connecting Care partnership
priorities.
Governing Body has also supported the transfer of the Continuing Healthcare/Complex care
services to in- house management in February 2015 in order to improve the services across
five CCGS.
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1.8.

Governing Body reporting review

The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reviews on agreed priorities
throughout the year. This work has focused on s pecific areas and given challenge and
scrutiny to the Governing Body to improve the CCG standards of work.
The Governing Body has also had a good working relationship with both internal and
external auditors throughout the year as both attend the Governance and Audit Committee
on a regular basis. During 2014/15 Mersey Internal Audit Agency have reviewed the
Governing Body reporting structures and governance. T he CCG has received significant
assurance following these reviews.

2. Strategic Report
2.1.

A review of the CCG’s Business

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted
in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The clinical commissioning group operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for
the completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and
processes prior to the clinical commission group taking on its full powers.

2.1.1 Our Address and Contact Details
We lease our office building from NHS Property Services and our business address is:
Bevan House
Barony Court
Nantwich
Cheshire
CW5 5RD
Tel: 01270 275473 Fax: 01270 618392
Email: nhsvaleroyal.ccg@nhs.net

2.1.2 Our Health Landscape
As a C CG we recognise that we operate within a c ompetitive provider market. This is
consistent with, and s upported by, Monitor’s (the economic regulator for health provision)
recent publications. As a CCG we are mindful of the need to ensure that we adhere to the
principles and rules. Consequently, within 2014/15 we have continued to develop plans to
extend patient choice. We have been actively utilising different techniques to fulfil Monitor’s
guidance/publications including, but not limited to, any qualified provider (within certain
specialities). We are, as a CCG, acutely aware of our commissioning responsibilities for our
patients and population, but also attentive to ensure that we deliver a sustainable financial
position and achieve value for money. The utilisation of any qualified provider to extend
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patient choice effectively opens the market place to new entrants but also works on the
ethos of allowing innovation into health and care providers which we fully support. Our main
focus though remains one of driving towards improved integration of services and reducing
fragmentation.
We believe that the improved coordination of care across the entire patient pathway will
deliver the best clinical outcomes and del iver a s ustainable health and s ocial care local
environment. All NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a statutory duty to remain within
the resource that has been allocated to them from NHS England. This is referred to as
achieving operational financial balance. We have delivered all of our financial targets and
applied our resources effectively.
For 2014/15 NHS Vale Royal CCG has reported a planned surplus of £2.984m against its
resource limit of £123.68 million; it is our understanding that £2.2m will be returned to the
CCG in the 2015/16 financial year. The planned surplus has resulted from the CCG
adopting a prudent approach to the financial risks in the system that have been caused
mainly by ongoing allocation adjustments throughout the year. There has been an ongoing
pressure on the CCG provider services budgets during 2014/15.
As a public sector body the CCG is assumed to be a ‘going concern’ where the continuation
of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a c linical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity)
in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis.

2.1.3 The Work of Our Programme Boards
In developing the objectives of our Programme Boards, established in June 2013, we have
worked with our partners on the Health and Wellbeing Board, our provider organisations and
the voluntary sector to consider the key challenges that together we need to address to
make a real difference to the health and wellbeing of our communities.
We have continued throughout 2014/15 to deliver our commissioning intentions via the three
programme boards:
•
•
•

Starting Well
Living Well
Ageing Well

These programmes deliver core business around performance, contract management, risk
management, quality improvement and assurance and financial probity. They also undertake
partnership commissioning alongside other CCGs, local authorities and NHS England. This
programme approach brings clarity to our work and projects and aligns with the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
As members of the Health and Wellbeing Board we have identified a set of joint priorities
that we will address to make a real difference to the health and wellbeing of our
communities.
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2.1.4 Financial Performance Duties
NHS Vale Royal CCG has achieved its financial performance duties for 2014/15, namely:
To remain within Revenue Resource Limits



To remain within Cash Resource Limits



To remain within Capital Resource Limits



To remain within Administration Resource Limits



Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay
all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is
later. The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within
agreed contract terms. Details of compliance with the code are given in the note 6 of the
financial statements.

Prompt Payments
The CCG is signed up to the principles of the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was
devised by the government with The Institute of Credit Management to tackle the crucial
issue of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any
company that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and
that there is a proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.

Financial Highlights
Our main financial highlights are as follows:
•
•
•
•

We have achieved the CCG financial duties
The total resource allocated in 2014/15 to NHS Vale Royal CCG was £123.679m.
The CCG achieved a planned surplus of £2.984m (2.4% of CCG resource) with
expenditure of £120.692m.
£2.2m (2%) of the achieved CCG surplus will be returned non-recurrently in 2015/16

The integration of our finance team to operate within our CCG management team has
enabled us to proactively provide financial scrutiny and assurance at a range of levels within
the CCG. Our team work within Programme Boards and with our Clinical Commissioning
Executive to report effectively with our Governing Body. This has led to more financial
control and autonomy to ensure that we deliver a balanced budget.

Capital Expenditure
The CCG had minimal capital expenditure of £39k during the year. It does not have any
significant capital plans for 2015/16.
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Administrative Running Costs
Total administration resource for the year was £2.708m, of which £2.400m allocated to fund
running costs equivalent to £25 per head of population. For 2015/16 the running cost
resource has been reduced to £2.22m. During the financial year we have, in conjunction
with 4 other CCGs, established a shared Continuing Healthcare and Support Service. This
service has been retracted from Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit.

Property costs
The CCG has had to contribute to the national shortfall relating to NHS Property Services.
The excess cost over budget in total is £0.32 million.

Cash Flow
The CCG has managed its cash effectively over the year, not spending more than its
resource allocation. At the end of the year, a balance of £54k was carried forward, within the
stipulated allowance of £131K.

The next 5 years
During 2015/16 will be developing a new collaborative contracting approach between our
main acute, community, primary care and mental health providers using either alliance or
lead contractor models. The model to be developed will use the approach of a joint resource
to drive innovation and fund collaborative working across the health economy.

Key Financial Priorities for 2015/16 to 2019/20
As a CCG we have a number of statutory financial and national requirements the key items
are identified below:
•

To maintain a balanced position and deliver the 1% surplus as required by the
NHS England;

•

To deliver our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention targets whilst
ensuring that we are delivering improved care to patients;

•

To invest the commissioning budget to maximise value for money;

•

To ensure the financial resources are applied to support the CCG commissioning
strategy; and

•

To utilise the Better Care Fund in 2015/16 locally on health and care to drive
closer integration and improve outcomes for patients and service users and
carers

Key Financial Risks facing the CCG
The key financial risks that the CCG has faced during the year are detailed in the corporate
risk register and are monitored on a regular basis via the Governance and Audit Committee.
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The risks are also updated on a regular basis and the following are the key risks identified by
the CCG in the forthcoming year:
•

Increased pressures in Elective and Non-Elective Care, Continuing Healthcare,
Funded Nursing Care and Learning Disabilities services;

•

A reduction of 10% in Administration Resource limit.

•

Stranded costs relating to services withdrawn from the CSU;

•

Ensuring the drive to closer integration can be achieved within existing allocations
and change recognised through provider contracts;

•

Ensuring the financial risks associated with the introduction of Personal Health
Budgets are managed, particularly in respect of safeguarding;

•

Achievement of the Quality Premium;

•

Operation of the s75 agreement for the Better Care Fund and the transfer of £6.23m
of CCG resource to fund the associated schemes.

2.2.

Discharging our duties

Our Constitution states that, as a Membership Assembly, we delegate authority to the
Governing Body to effectively and efficiently run the CCG on our behalf. During 2014/15 we
reviewed and am ended our CCG Constitution including the Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation and agreed to delegate responsibility for the production and approval of the CCG
Annual Report and Accounts to the Governing Body.
The CCG made an application to NHS England (1st December 2014) to amend its
Constitution and received notification (On 14th April 2015) that the proposed changes to the
Constitution of NHS Vale Royal CCG complied with the particular requirements of the
National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and
is otherwise appropriate.
Our organisational structure can be found in appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Assembly and Governing Body, together with its Committees and Sub Committee and
therefore the lines of reporting and communication.

2.2.1 Quality and Safeguarding at the heart of everything we do
Quality is at the centre of everything we do. In 2014/15 NHS Vale Royal CCG has ensured
that quality of care is our focus and priority. Our clinicians lead the quality and s afety
agenda across the CCG and work collaboratively to deliver the mechanisms to improve,
monitor and assure quality and patient safety in our healthcare providers.
As a CCG, we exercise functions with a v iew to securing continuous improvement in the
quality of services provided to individuals for, or in connection with, the prevention, diagnosis
or treatment of illness. As a C CG we also act with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the outcomes that are achieved and, in particular, outcomes which show the
effectiveness of their services, the safety of the services provided, and t he quality of the
experience of the patient.
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In discharging this duty, we regularly publish Quality and P erformance Reports at our
Governing Body meetings (Section 14R NHS Act 2006).
In order to ensure the CCG makes commissioning decisions based on quality we have
developed the following four facets of quality, we refer to these as “CASE”. These were
developed with members of the public via engagement activities:
Care - the patient experience must be For example, ensuring 100% roll-out of
positive. Patients should be treated as the Friends and Family test and improving
individuals with dignity and respect.
patient experience of hospital services.
Accessibility - Patients must be able to For example, heightened awareness of
easily access services. Services must equality and di versity in NHS standard
be designed to meet the different needs contracts
of communities and individuals.
Safety - it is vital that we protect our For example, we undertake Methicillinpatients and staff by managing all risks Resistant
Staphylococcus
Aureus
effectively.
(MRSA) post infection reviews in order to
reduce healthcare associated infection
rates.

Effectiveness - it is important that the
way we manage services results in a
more positive experience for patients.
We also need to make sure that
services are cost-effective.

For example, following review of stroke
services, a gap in community services has
been identified. This has led to the
development of a new community
specialist rehabilitation team which was
implemented in 2014.

As commissioners our prime responsibility is to protect children and adults at risk, operating
in accordance with statutory guidance, taking account of our responsibility to assure
ourselves that the organisations that we commission local health services from have
effective safeguards in place and provide the highest possible standards of care.
The NHS Constitution sets out the legal rights of patients with regard to quality of care and
the environment. To ensure that we do t his we have established an i nternal committee
known as the Quality and Performance Committee that seeks assurance on t he quality
and safety of services commissioned. The committee receives reports giving information
about the quality and performance of services including safeguarding of all our health care
providers. The Incidents and Complaints group is a subcommittee of the Quality and
Performance Committee, this is where the CCG discuss all incidents from our providers in
detail and ensures that there are mechanisms in place to guarantee that lessons learnt have
been implemented and acted upon. Monitoring incidents, claims, concerns and complaints
trends from commissioned services to ensure corrective and preventative action is being
taken. Ensuring lessons are learnt from patient experience intelligence and s erious
untoward incidents.
NHS Vale Royal CCGs constitution is in place to help the CCG meet their responsibilities, to
discharge all of the legal obligations and to engage with members, patients, the public and
other key partners and partners to achieve this.
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It describes the group’s governing principles, the rules and procedures that are established
to ensure probity and ac countability, to ensure that decisions are taken in an open and
transparent way and that patients’ and public interest always remain central to goals.

How do we monitor Quality?
As a CCG we take responsibility for quality assurance by holding providers to account for
delivery of contractual obligations and q uality standards. We also take responsibility for
working closely with providers to ensure service delivery continually improves and there are
processes in place to drive this continual improvement including the adoption and sharing of
innovation. We plan to work with carers, patients, service users and other interested parties
to engage them in monitoring quality. These ‘Quality checkers’ will be in a position to bring
fresh eyes to site visits as well as reviewing and commenting on tools in development.

Expert Reference Group
Empowering patients, public and staff across the commissioning and provider cycle is
essential to co-production. There was no mechanism in place for the Connecting Care
Board and Provider Board to access patients, public and staff, and therefore during 2014, an
Expert Reference Group was developed to provide patient views and experience.
The purpose of the Expert Reference Group is to provide advice and assistance to the
process at which ever point in the cycle; expert clinical and operational views and
experiences from patient/public and staff perspectives, share best practice and evidence, and
identify potential gaps and opportunities relating to models of care delivery developed and
innovative ways of working/pathway development.
The main objectives of the Expert Reference Group are to:
•

Come together as a resource to the Connecting Care Board, Provider Board and
Operational Groups

•

Ensure a robust mechanism in place for patients/public and frontline staff to ‘test
out’ developed models of working and contribute to the development of
innovative ways of working/pathways

•

Develop the specification framework for main changes to approaches

•

Develop outcomes for contracts and quality measures

•

Identify any gaps and opportunities to consider within the development and
implementation of new models

•

Make recommendations to Connecting Care Board across the commissioning
and provider cycle relating to any gaps or opportunities within development and
implementation of new models

•

Capture the experience and evidence of patients/public and frontline staff working
within health and social care

Reducing avoidable harm and improving safety
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Patient safety is the number one priority for the services that are commissioned. The CCG
supports relevant national patient safety initiatives and m onitors how our providers
implement these.

Quality review meetings
These are held with our acute, community, mental health and independent providers. These
meetings are formal contract meetings that focus on quality and pat ient safety. Clinical
presentations from our providers are an i ntegral part of the meetings. A programme of
presentations have taken place which have been formally agreed with our main provider and
links into performance against targets and Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUINS). This has allowed us to focus on quality and patient safety in individual services,
recognising good practice and i dentifying areas for improvement. Quality review meetings
provide a robust process for commissioners and providers to work together to meet national
and local standards and ultimately improve the patient experience.

Care Homes
Collaborative working: Local Authorities
This year there has been a move towards greater collaboration in working with the Quality
Assurance teams in Cheshire East Council (CEC) and Cheshire West and Chester Council
(CWaC).
The Local Authority has a well-established joint Quality Monitoring group with representation
from all Health and Social care partners. The CCG Quality team has representation on the
group and now jointly attends Nursing Homes Quality review visits. The reviews of the
Nursing Care homes in the Vale Royal Area are well under way with plans to jointly review
all homes. Joint action plans are agreed in line with the contract with the providers.
The CCG is part of the provider forum group and works with colleagues from CWaC in
setting the agendas, ensuring an opportunity to inform and updat e providers on c urrent
health initiatives.

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
The CCG has used the CQUIN schemes to incentivise improvements working with our
providers. CQUIN schemes are a payment framework in the NHS contract which places a
proportion of healthcare providers’ income on i mproving quality and u sing innovation to
enhance patient outcomes and experience in specified areas of care.
Following the CQUIN schemes 2013/14 around patient and s taff experience a num ber of
initiatives has been taken forward in 2014/15. These include specifically listening to patients
within the Head and Neck Cancer Services around outpatients; clearer information on
display boards, patient waiting areas reconfigured i.e. seating areas which has aided the
hearing and sight impaired patients in particular who are now facing the direction from which
the staff call them through to clinic, televisions in place in waiting areas.
During 2014/15 the success of the above patient experience outcomes has led to a
continuing focus on patient experience. We engaged with our main provider and agreed to
focus on a further 4 areas in order to gain valuable feedback from our patients. These 4
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areas were: Adult general outpatients, Urology patients, Triage service for pregnant women
and Paediatric outpatient facilities. T he final outcomes will be r eported through the CCG
Clinical Quality and Patient Safety Review meetings.

Safe Staffing
The relationship between safe staff and safe care and the quality of the patient experience is
a key factor in the Francis and Berwick Reports and the Keogh Review. From July 2014,
providers have been required to provide monthly reports for inpatients in acute hospitals and
from February 2015 M aternity services on s taffing levels. These measures are brought
together with safety metrics to identify any impact on patient care and experience.
The CCG has access to provider reports containing benchmarking data and have been able
to evidence that staffing levels are a Trust Board priority from the Board reports, which are
submitted to commissioners. Other sources of soft intelligence and assurance visits have
been used to triangulate the workforce status of the organisation and to report to the CCG
Quality and Performance Committee and Governing Body.

Quality and Performance Committee
The CCG holds a Quality and Performance Committee on a monthly basis. The purpose of
the Committee is to oversee quality, performance, effectiveness of clinical services, patient
safety and patient experience. The Committee ensures commissioned services are of good
quality, deliver safe effective care and are performing within national and local targets by:
•
•
•
•

Establishing systems to ensure information and evidence from national and
local data sources are used to assess the quality, performance and p atient
safety of commissioned healthcare services
Ensuring that when decisions are made about safety, quality of care and the
performance of providers, that the outcomes for patients are clearly established
and recorded
Use data from patient experience to help monitor and evaluate safety, quality
and performance of provider services
The Committee has reviewed reports such as:- the NHS constitution
performance report and has been g iven assurance around a nu mber of
performance measures and w here appropriate invited Service Delivery
Managers responsible for commissioning services to attend the committee to
detail any actions. The Committee has received update reports from Medicines
Management, Continuing Healthcare and Safeguarding.

During 2014/15 an audit of quality governance, assurance processes, and CCG responses
to the key quality reports was undertaken by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA). The audit
scrutinised the Quality assurance framework and underpinning operational processes. The
audit identified significant assurance. In 2014 the Quality and P erformance Committee
extended its membership to include representation from the two local Health Watch
organisations. Membership from Healthwatch has provided an addi tional level of local
population data relating to outcomes and experience which the committee has been able to
use to triangulate as part of quality monitoring and continual improvement.

Incidents and Complaints Group
The Incidents and C omplaints group is a subcommittee of the Quality and P erformance
Committee. T his is where the CCG discuss all incidents from our providers in detail and
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ensures that there are mechanisms in place to guarantee that lessons learnt have been
implemented and acted upon. Analysing and r eviewing data, actions plans and l essons
learnt allows us to triangulate the data and identify trends that may be missed if we relied on
just the one source. This process now includes regular attendance by providers at the
meeting to present evidence in order to close incidents. This practice has worked well for all
concerned and any queries/concerns are dealt with face to face.

Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
NHS Vale Royal CCG is an ac tive participant in our local QSG. These have been
established across the country to systematically bring together the different parts of the
system to share information. They are a f orum for collaboration, providing the health
economy with:
•
•
•

A shared view of risks to quality through sharing intelligence;
An early warning mechanism of risk about poor quality; and
Opportunities to coordinate actions to drive improvement, respecting statutory
responsibilities of, and on-going operational liaison between, organisations.

How do we get direct patient feedback on Healthcare Services?
As a CCG we gain direct patient feedback through the following:
a. Complaints – the CCG has received trend and themed information from providers on
the types of complaints that they are receiving and seeks assurance around the
management, outcomes and learning from these complaints. The team also receives
information about complaints received by the CCGs about locally commissioned
services.
b. National Surveys – The NHS patient survey programme systematically gathers the
views of patients about the care they have recently received in a variety of areas
including Inpatient admissions, cancer care, community mental health teams, maternity
and Accident and Emergency. The CCG have reviewed and identified trends in patients
experience across surveys and have also looked at improvement and deterioration in
areas of patients experience for individual providers year on year.
c. Local Surveys – All providers have undertaken locally agreed patient experience
surveys and have shared the details with the CCG and have been reviewed and trends
identified.
d. Patient Stories – have been collated and have been presented at the CCG Clinical
Quality and P atient Safety Review meetings monthly. P atient stories have also been
received by the Governing Body.
e. Quality Visits – The CCG have undertaken several quality visits during 2014/15 to seek
real time views of patients and their carers about their experience. Staff experience has
also been captured during these visits.
f. Friends and Family Test (FFT) – This is a national feedback tool that supports the
fundamental principle that people who use NHS services should have the opportunity to
provide feedback on their experience. It provides a m echanism to highlight both good
and poor patient experience. It comprises a single question survey which asks patients
whether they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and
family who need s imilar treatment or care. The CCG quality team triangulate FFT
information (which is available at ward/clinical area level) with other patient experience
information (to build a ‘picture’ of how individual areas within a trust are performing. The
FFT was introduced into GP practices from 1 December 2014, mental health services,
community health services from the 1 J anuary 2015 and will be i ntroduced to the
remainder of acute care (outpatient and day case departments), ambulance services
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Sign up to Safety
The review into Mid Staffordshire NHS Trust (Francis Report) recognised the importance of
openness and candour. To further embed this principle NHS Vale Royal CCG has signed up
to the ‘Sign up to Safety Campaign’. The pledges have been published on the organisations
website for staff, patients and the public to see. In signing up NHS Vale Royal CCG have
committed to strengthening patient safety by:
•

Describing the actions that will be undertaken in response to the five campaign
pledges

•

Make public the pledges, engaging with the patients and public

•

Update the website regularly on progress against them

The Pledges were developed reflecting on NHS Vale Royal CCG Quality and Safeguarding
strategy. Also, the Chief Nursing Officer for England’s Nursing Strategy i ncorporating
Compassion in Practice which includes the 6C’s (care, compassion, commitment,
competency, courage and communication) as a framework for the CCGs commitment to the
campaign.
Learning points which were raised at the recent engagement events with
members of the general public, providers, and voluntary organisations have been utilised to
demonstrate that the views of patients and public have been listened to and acted upon in
the pledges made.
Pledges that have been made on behalf of NHS Vale Royal CCG are a bal ance between
actions that will be und ertaken within the organisation and t hose actions that rely on t he
interaction and engagement with patients, carers, providers and other stakeholders.
A number of pledges have been made on behalf of NHS Vale Royal CCG under the
following campaign headings:
1.

Put safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and
make public the goals and plans developed locally.

2.

Continually learn. Make their organisations more resilient to risks, by
acting on the feedback from patients and by constantly measuring and
monitoring how safe their services are.

3.

Honesty. Be transparent with people about their progress to tackle patient
safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if
something goes wrong.

4.

Collaborate. Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning,
so that improvements are made across all of the local services that patients
use.

5.

Support. Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them
right. Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress.

2.2.2 Quality and Safeguarding
This year we have worked hard to further develop our Quality and Safeguarding Strategy.
The strategy sets out our approach to continually driving up quality and embedding quality
and safeguarding as part of the culture; with each staff member, patient/carer and
stakeholder being clear about what ‘good’ looks like. A number of stakeholder events have
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taken place during summer 2014 with the aim to have a s hared understanding of ‘what
excellent looks like’, what the strategy means to stakeholders; identifying opportunities to
work together and check out our approach to quality and safeguarding.
There was an agreement from the 3 ev ents that ‘good or excellent’ means keeping the
person at the centre of all that we do, working together with the person and those important
to them, always trying to understand what each person’s experience is, achieving ‘good or
excellent’ is about how the experience feels. The quality and s afeguarding strategy was
supported and opportunities identified to work together.
Attendees also reviewed the National Nursing and Care strategy ‘Compassion in Practice 6
Cs’: Care, Compassion, Communication, Courage, Competence and Commitment.
Attendees identified what each ‘C’ means to them and again generated ideas about how to
embed these into ways of working to champion excellent practice and challenge poor
practice. There was support for the 6 Cs as core underpinning values for all stakeholders.
Attendees also felt that there should be a 7th C of Culture. .The feedback relating to the 6 Cs
+1 have been us ed to further develop a dr aft quality monitoring framework known as the
‘Compassion Tool’ which has been jointly developed with Mid-Cheshire Hospitals
Foundation Trust to use when carrying out quality visits. During the past 3 month the draft 6
Cs +1 quality framework has been piloted our main acute provider and will be further
developed and rolled out across all providers.

Safeguarding and Assurance meeting
The Safeguarding and Assurance meeting provide assurance all health providers from
whom it commissions services (both public and independent sector) have comprehensive
single and m ulti-agency policies and pr ocedures in place to safeguard and pr omote the
welfare of children and to protect adults at risk from abuse or the risk of abuse. The acute
and community providers are expected to be an active partner on the Local Safeguarding
Children Safeguarding Adult Boards and that health workers contribute to multi-agency
working.
Consideration is given to the evolving NHS landscape and where safeguarding roles and
functions may sit in the future. In particular, the requirement set out in Safeguarding
Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS Accountability and A ssurance Framework (NHS
Commissioning Board, 2013)
The organisation reviews annual the Commissioned Services Standards for Safeguarding
Children and Adults at Risk. This document provides clear service standards against which
healthcare providers are monitored to ensure that all service users are protected from abuse
and the risk of abuse.
Leadership within the CCG is values based leadership at all levels which brings people
together to deliver a common purpose. Our Governing Body, as guardians of the system,
embeds resilience and s ustainability for the outcomes of our communities. E nsuring our
statutory responsibilities is embedded within everyday business of the organisation.
2014/15 has seen significant changes in Adult Safeguarding. The Mental Capacity Act
(MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) was showcased during the Cheshire
West Case and the Supreme Court Ruling, identifying new specific measures that have
changed the way health colleagues raise standard authorisations for patients in their care.
Funding sourced from NHS England supported two one da y conferences on MCA/DoLS.
The Designated Nurse Adult Safeguarding worked with the Safeguarding Adult Lead from
the Countess of Chester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in the facilitation of the conference.
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The conference hosted key note speakers who illustrated national figures and good practice
that is being shared with all professionals. Over 100 delegates attended from health, social
care, private sector, police and pr obation. The day generated lots of questions but also
provided professionals with a positive forum to air their concerns.
The Cheshire West and Chester Safeguarding Adult Board (SAB) has also begun to look at
the Board set up, alongside systems and processes to ensure the Board is fit for purpose in
meeting the requirements of the Care Act 2014. The Care Act places Adult Safeguarding on
a statutory footing, and the key statutory partners include Social Care, Health and P olice.
Statutory partners are working together to develop the work of the Board.
With the staged implementation of the Care Act 2014 Cheshire West and Chester Local
Authority remains the lead for safeguarding vulnerable adults.
The core business of the Designated Nurses within the Clinical Commissioning Group has
continued with quarterly Safeguarding Assurance Group meetings, the meetings provide
assurance to sub-committees of the Clinical Commissioning Group on actions to safeguard
children and adults. The meetings have provided a structure for reporting, management of
risk and reviewing performance. The meetings are held with our three main providers East
Cheshire NHS Trust, Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and C heshire and
Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
The Clinical Commissioning Group is responsible for promoting safeguarding quality and
quality assurance in the services we commission. This is achieved through the contractual
arrangements with our service providers. The Contracts include safeguarding standards in
respect of both children and adults at risk. The Commissioned Services Standards for
Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk document includes section 11 responsibilities of
The Children Act 1989, The Care Act 2014 and the six adult safeguarding principals linked to
the 6C’s of Compassionate Care. The standards include an escalation process and this is
used when standards are not progressing. The safeguarding annual self-assessment audit
tools are reviewed and c ompleted annually. The evidence provided is quality assured and
the feedback from the Clinical Commissioning Group to providers is taken through the
Safeguarding Assurance Group. Any exceptions are reported to the Quality and
Performance Committee. In addition the meetings includes review of the Safeguarding
Assurance Dashboards for both Children and Adult services, the progress of Care Quality
Commission safeguarding action plans and those action plans derived from multi-agency
Practice Learning Reviews. Providers have not been involved in any Serious Case Reviews
during 2014 / 15.
The overall outcome has been to provide assurance to the Governing Body sub-committees
that safeguarding standards, including policies, training and safeguarding supervision
arrangements are in place to safeguard children (including children in care) and adults. This
includes the arrangements in place to undertake multi-agency partnership working with the
Local Safeguarding Children and Adult Boards.
The Quality and Performance Committee has received quarterly safeguarding children and
adult update and r isk reports. The reports include key points of the Local Safeguarding
Children and Adult Boards work. The Governing Body receives an annual report in relation
to safeguarding children and adults and a six monthly update on the Clinical Commissioning
Groups safeguarding children statutory responsibilities.
NHS England hosts a Quality Surveillance Group for Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Area
Team which is regularly attended by the Clinical Commissioning Group. The group share
any concerns with the quality and s afeguarding assurance of providers within the North
West.
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Leadership and responsibility for safeguarding at Governing Body level has been achieved
through the Director of Partnership and Governance. This lead role provides the Clinical
Commissioning Group representation on bot h the Local Safeguarding Children and Loc al
Safeguarding Adult Boards.
Clinical expertise in the Clinical Commissioning Group is provided through the Designated
Nurse and Doctor for Safeguarding Children, the Designated Nurse for Children in Care, and
the Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Adults. These professionals are directly accountable
to the Director of Partnership and Governance. The Designated Nurses have direct access
to the Chief Officer. In addition, there is a Designated Paediatrician for Unexpected Deaths
in Childhood and a Child Death Overview Panel Specialist Nurse.
As clinical experts and strategic leaders, the designated professionals provide a vital source
of advice to the Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS England, the Local Authority, Local
Safeguarding Children Board, the Child Death Overview Panel and Safeguarding Adult
Board. They also provide advice and s upport for health professionals in provider
organisations and i ndependent contractors. The Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children
provides safeguarding supervision for the Designated Nurse Children in Care and t he
Named Nurses in the provider Trusts.
The professionals provide advice to the organisations in the health economy in relation to
planning, strategy and commissioning, including advising on per formance indicators and
quality measures specific to safeguarding.
In respect of safeguarding children, the Clinical Commissioning Group contributes to the
multi-agency work of the Local Safeguarding Children Board and all of its sub groups. This
has included the work of Child Death Overview Panel, the multi-agency case audit process,
and engagement with the early help process, Practice Learning Reviews and development
of the Child Sexual Exploitation Team.
The Care Quality Commission Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and
Safeguarding in West Cheshire took place in January 2014. During the last year the
Designated Nurse has worked closely with NHS England and l ocal health providers to
develop and i mplement the resulting action plan. The majority of the actions have been
completed. The outstanding actions involve partners. A workshop was held with providers in
March 2015 agreed how to take forward the remaining actions and the ongoing monitoring.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has completed the Local Safeguarding Children Board
Section 11 audit. An action plan has been developed and is progressing.
The Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children has co-ordinated the health contribution, to
the Local Safeguarding Children Board multi-agency case audits. Since the commencement
of the Named GP for Safeguarding Children GP Practice involvement has increased, with
the Named GP completing the practice audits.
A series of three level 3 safeguarding children training sessions have been delivered for GPs
during the year. The focus has been on ear ly support systems and s ervices, child sexual
exploitation and the GPs role in caring for our children in care. The 2015 / 16 sessions have
been planned and adv ertised. The newly appointed Named GP for Safeguarding Children
has worked in collaboration with the Designated Professionals to plan and dev elop this
year’s training programme.
In response to information from the Pan Cheshire Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)
regarding a number of child deaths associated with unsafe sleep the Specialist CDOP nurse
was supported by the Clinical Commissioning Groups and Public Health to review safe sleep
literature and to provide two multi-agency training sessions for safe sleep “champions” given
by the Lullaby Trust.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group is contributing to the joint commissioning of the
independent Domestic Violence Advocate post at Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust. This post is already demonstrating improved outcomes to families living with domestic
violence who are identified by hospital staff.
In collaboration with South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group the Identification and
Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) project has been introduced to GP surgeries. This project
allows GP Practices access to a dedicated professional providing support for patients
experiencing domestic abuse as well as whole surgery training in domestic abuse.

2.2.3 Reducing Health Inequalities
Across NHS Vale Royal CCG whilst we understand that that some of the wider determinants
of health are beyond the traditional reach of the NHS, we as commissioners aim to be an
effective ’champion’ for reducing health inequalities in Vale Royal. NHS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group has pledged to help make Vale Royal a pl ace where health
inequalities are decreasing.
As commissioners of health services, we work to identify what our health inequalities are in
Vale Royal and put realistic plans in place to begin to deliver on r educing the gap of
inequalities across our locality. It is our aim to ensure that the most vulnerable in our society
have access to appropriate care and services in order to bring improvements in their health.
We acknowledge that we are able to commission a di verse range of services in different
locations to help address some of these health inequalities but by working in partnership
across the whole health and social economy our success is more likely to be achieved. It is
hoped that through partnership we will work towards:
•
•
•
•
•

Improving the life expectancy of our local population
Giving children the best possible start in life
Empowering patients to be in control of their own health outcomes
Improving the mental and physical health of our local population
Develop a quality health standard that all communities can become part of

We have examined local and nat ional information to understand the increasing health
inequalities facing Vale Royal residents and have identified a number of health inequalities
upon which to focus to bring about changes in local health across the Vale Royal locality.
The following diagram highlights these key health inequalities.
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Respiratory

One of the top causes of deal in England in the under 75 age group, Around 100 people
under the age of 75 die each year in Cheshire West and Chester from respiratory
disease and in Vale Royal it is the third biggest cause of death after cancer and
circulatory disease.

Cardio Vascular

The second biggest cause of death after cancer in Vale Royal. CVD includes coronary
heart disease, stroke, heart failure, atrial fibrillation and chronic kidney disease

Cancer

Accounts for 43% of deaths in the under 75s in Cheshire West and Chester, around 430
people every year with rates being significantly higher in the more deprived areas of the
borough

Diabetes

The fastest increasing long-term condition and locally the number of patients with
diabetes

Dementia

Most people with dementia are over the age of 65 and are also more at risk of
discrimination and infringements of their human rights because they may not have the
capacity to challenge abuses or to report what has occurred

Mental Health

Learning Difficulties

Affects 1 in 4 people at some point in their lives with one in ten children needing some
form of support or treatment for their mental health condition

People with learning disabilities have a much greater propensity to develop health
problems, both physical and mental health, compared with the general population.
They also have an increased risk of early death compared to the general population
although the life expectancy of this population is increasing over time for people with
mild learning disabilities, approaching that of the general population

Children

Infant mortality rates for babies born to teenage mothers are around 60% higher than
for babies born to older mothers, with the children of teenage mothers having an
increased risk of living in poverty and poor quality housing

Liver Disease

Liver disease is now the 5th commonest cause of death in the UK and one of the few
developed nations with an upward trend in mortality from liver disease.

2.2.4 Promoting Education and Training
As part of our continued professional development Protected Learning Time (PLTs) events
are held throughout the year for every GP and N urse member. Throughout 2014/15 the
following clinical topics have been the focus of each PLT:
•
•
•

Diabetes Pharmacotherapy Update
Atrial Fibrillation
Dermatology; lumps and bumps

In addition to these there has been an ad ditional Infection Control and Medicines
Optimisation events held for Practice Nurses.
Our lead Practice Nurse also arranged lunchtime drop in sessions across the locality on
Tuesday lunchtimes for GPS. These sessions included:
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•
•
•
•
•
•

What’s new in Ophthalmology
Adrenal Insufficiency
The role and r esponsibilities of Primary and S econdary Care in the treatment of
severe and enduring mental health
Vitamin D Deficiency
Updates in the management of overactive bladder
Podiatry and Physiotherapy

As a clinically led organisation we are keen to empower a strong nursing voice, particularly
from practices nurses who have well developed relationships with patients and take a bi g
role in supporting patients to manage their own health needs and have valuable knowledge
and skills relating to impact for and approaches with patients.
Practice nurses across NHS Vale Royal CCG want to ensure consistently high quality care
for all patients, delivering on all of the 6C's of the nursing strategy. Therefore a Practice
Nurse Membership Assembly was established in 2014/15, providing the opportunity for a
consistent approach to achieve quality and sharing best practice within practice nursing and
also to influence nursing developments and approaches within the Vale Royal area.
Achievements from our work undertaken through the Practice Nurse Membership during
2014/15 include:
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Working with Chester University to update mentor status of practice nurses to
facilitate the introduction of student nurses into Vale Royal primary care
Practice Nurse Quality Lead joined forces with our Practice Engagement Managers
and CCG team, to meet members of the local public at an I nternational Health
Day/This was led by Pathways CIC’s Black and Minority Health and Wellbeing Team,
designed to bring together international families and their friends to celebrate health,
wellbeing and multiculturalism amongst its residents. This was a public health
education exercise to educate and promote awareness of hypertension and atrial
fibrillation
Maintenance of professional/clinical practice nurse meetings to facilitate education
along with networking requirements
Educational sessions at joint PLT’s to incorporate mandatory training and al so
professional updates
Representation at expert reference group which aims to support the connecting
care board with representation from primary, community and secondary care nurses,
AHPs, mental health and social care sectors
Representation at the Clinical Collaborative Contracting Meeting looking at among
other things the future of the local health economy and the five year plan.
Practice nurse diabetic lead championed in conjunction with lead dietician a
structured education rolling programme for newly diagnosed diabetics
Small number of practice nurses attended a 5 Ways to Well Being programme to
help develop personal and patient wellbeing
Raising awareness through our networking groups of the Nursing Midwifery Council
requirement for re validation. 2015 will see more awareness/workshops to help
implement the process
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2.3.

Legislative requirements

2.3.1. CCG Assurance Framework
The CCG Assurance Framework has been established to ensure that CCGs are continuing
to meet the on-going responsibilities to patients and the public. The framework sets out how
quarterly checkpoints contribute to an annual assessment focused on broader measures of
organisational health.
Over the past year we have achieved assurance (‘with support’ for Domain 3) at each of our
Checkpoint visits from the NHS England Area Team under the 6 Domains illustrated below.
We have also highlighted an example of good practice from the last year to demonstrate our
achievements:

NHS VALE ROYAL CCG
Focus

Particular achievements noted/examples of good practice

Are patients receiving
clinically commissioned,
high quality services?

The CCG Commissioning Intentions have been shaped and agreed by
clinicians, through the Membership Assembly and the Clinical Commissioning
Executive.
Each of our Programme Boards (Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing Well)
all have clinical representation. Our clinicians are involved in a wide range of
projects including urgent and planned care, Primary Care Quality, and health
inequalities.
The CCG sit on t he local Quality Surveillance Group (which also includes
Local Authority/Care Quality Commission/Patient Advice & Liaison and the
local Healthwatch).
The CCGs have also undertaken quality visits to our main providers ie
MCHFT ward visits/ECT district nursing visits/quality review of district nursing
through GP questionnaire in Aug/Sep to check on quality of services
The CCG has reviewed the 360° Stakeholder Survey, which was completed
at the end of 2013-14 and developed an action plan in response.

Are patients and the public
actively engaged and
involved?

In quarter 2 there was extensive engagement activity across Vale Royal
•
•

The extensive summer roadshow activity which has taken place,
reaching a diverse range of our local geography – attendance at the
Nantwich Show;
the hosting of the first patient conference, Making a D ifference, in
Cheshire;

This CCG Health Forum is specific to Vale Royal and is a group of patients,
stakeholders and m embers of the local community to discuss local matters,
introduce Think Pharmacy, showcase the new Operational Plan and discuss
the format of forums going forward.
A local Quality Surveillance Group has been developed which includes Local
Authority/Care Quality Commission/Patient Advice & Liaison and the local
Health Watch to get patient insights into commissioned services.
Engagement Event held to introduce the Quality and Safeguarding strategy to
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the public, patients and stakeholders and to determine whether as a strategy
it is fit for purpose to take forward to use and embed – 14.08.14
Patient Stories are presented at the Quality & Performance Committee and
the Governing Body. HealthWatch also sit on t he Quality & performance
Committee and attend the Primary Care Quality Group.
Are CCG plans delivering
better outcomes for
patients?

The information below details a few examples of our work to deliver better
outcomes for patients during this quarter.

Integrated Teams
Our Connecting Care Board has developed an innovative solution to enable
the delivery of Integrated Teams. The board has established a ‘ Provider
Board’ which brings together multiple acute, mental health, community and
primary care providers. An ‘Innovation Fund’ has been created (within BCF)
from a range of sources e.g. tariff deflator, multi-partner contributions and this
has created the resource to contract for outcomes via an ‘Alliance contract’ to
achieve our ambitions for the care system.
The Provider Board has invested in a project team and devised a plan to
deliver integrated teams

Intermediate Care Services Review
The Intermediate Care review was completed in May 2014 and reported to
CCE in June 2014. It has been utilised to create a vision for the future
provision of intermediate care and reablement services to be known at Short
Term Assessment, Intervention, Recovery and Rehabilitation Service
(STAIRRS).
STAIRRS seeks to bring together existing intermediate care, reablement and
other community support services to shift the balance of provision from acute
bed based services to community step up and home based health and social
care support to improve patient outcomes and del iver more cost effective,
sustainable care.
Where patients are admitted to hospital, to provide a timely route out, with
support, to regain mobility and social function in a medically safe
environment.
The service will be delivered through a redesign of existing intermediate care,
reablement and other community support services to provide timely access to
assessment and intervention and reduce emergency admissions.
The redesigned service will be based on individual health and social care
patient needs rather than prescribed service criteria offering choice to
patients and carers and providing alternatives to traditional hospital and
intermediate care bed based services.

Primary Care Mental Health Team
The aim of this project is to develop a new primary care mental health team
which will have a focus on dementia and on mental health liaison. The aim of
an integrated team would be t o provide high quality care that results in
improved health and wellbeing and a better experience for adults with
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complex care needs. This will be ac hieved by joining up mental health and
physical health services to focus on individuals in their own homes and
community, and reduce the need for emergency care
The team will provide additional skills and knowledge; will work closely with
GP practices and link with the developing integrated neighbourhood team
model.
The proposals for establishing this team have come out of two separate
commissioning intentions for 2013/14. Please refer to the feedback sheet for
each of these for a more detailed assessment of impact.
•
•
•
•
•
•

July 2014 - A business case presented for the combined primary care
mental health team
July – October – consultation and engagement with existing
providers and stakeholders
October 2014 – Funding secured and agreed for 3 pilot sites
November 2014 – Service specified and Job descriptions agreed
November - Recruitment of new personnel
January – Implementation of new teams in pilot areas

Re-commissioning of Personality Disorder Service
April 2014 – August - Review of the present service, engagement with service
users and staff delivering the present service.
A literature review produced examples of good practice and evidence based
models.
Nov 2014 – discussion with providers re pathways between PD service and
IAPT step 4.
December 2014- Finalise and present the business case for a proposed new
service
Diagnose Cancer Early
To diagnose cancer early and contribute to a reduction in the Years of Life
Lost and premature mortality objectives. This includes targeted intervention
and efforts in towns with higher incidence and mortality from cancer
•

Cancer screening uptake is in the top 20% compared to England.





Bowel cancer screening uptake:


Vale Royal – 54.2%



South Cheshire – 56.2%



England average – 52%

Breast cancer screening uptake:


Vale Royal – 70%



South Cheshire – 78.2%
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England average - 73,6%

Cervical cancer screening uptake:


Vale Royal – 75.8%



South Cheshire – 75.8%



England average - 73.7%

•

The proportion of cancers diagnosed at an earlier stage of disease
progression has reduced by 7.3% in year one.

•

The proportion of cancers diagnosed following an
presentation – This data is available on an annual basis.

•

Cancer services directory published November 2014

•

22 Practice Nurses completed a local Macmillan Cancer 6 da y course
September 2014

•

GP and Secondary Care Diagnose Cancer early learning events across
South Cheshire and Vale Royal in Protected Learning Time attended by
140 Primary Care clinicians April and June 2014

•

Lung cancer diagnostic pathway reviewed with new pathway operational
June 2014

•

Reduction in premature mortality from cancer (under 75):


123 per 100,000 (South Cheshire).



115 per 100,000 (Vale Royal).

emergency

Specialist Community Stroke Rehabilitation Service
The specialist community stroke rehabilitation team, incorporating an early
supported discharge (ESD) service will enable 100% stroke survivors
develop a greater quality of life and independence following stroke. Patients
will access specialist community stroke rehabilitation services following
standard discharge from a stroke unit or following ESD.
2014/15 – Procurement process completed. East Cheshire NHS Trust
awarded the contract to provide the service.
Implementation plan is in progress and is on track for service to commence
1st December 2014
Does the CCG have robust
governance
arrangements?

The CCG has a clear committee governance structure which all has clearly
defined terms of reference to help support the monitoring of systems and
controls to uphold the legal compliance required by an N HS public sector
organisation.
Governance of some of the partnership arrangements are also in place ie
Connecting care Board, Joint Commissioning Leadership team with oversight
of BCF for Vale Royal.
The CCG has submitted an application to NHS England for CCG Constitution
Changes. T he revised CCG Constitution reflects the changes to the CCG
operational and governance arrangements since we become an a uthorised
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CCG in April 2013. The main reason for the application to revise the CCG
Constitution is to amend the ‘Scheme of Reservation and Delegation’
(SORD). I n line the letter from Sir David Nicholson (Gateway 00053), the
CCG has included a s tatement that specifically references the right of
members or employees to make a protected disclosure - see section 9.10 of
the CCG Constitution.
We have also given due consideration to the recent changes to the legislative
reform order (LRO), which, from 1st October 2014 onwards, allows the CCG
to have the ability to form a joint committee with one or more other CCGs to
jointly exercise our functions and with NHS England so that the CCGs and
NHS England can exercise functions jointly. The CCG Constitution has taken
account of the recent legislative changes.

Are CCGs working in
partnership with others?

The strong history of partnership working in Cheshire has been a key
strength contributing to our success with our Cheshire wide partners in
becoming one of fourteen national ‘Integration Pioneer’ sites.
There is a s trong partnership across commissioners and pr oviders as
demonstrated by Connecting Care Board, HWBBs and supporting sub groups
and working groups. Examples of partnership working would be: integrated
teams, carers, community equipment services, mental health liaison services,
SEND development, stroke services, winter pressures
To support health and social care organisations to work more closely in local
areas and to facilitate shared funding models, for 2014/15 a national ‘Better
Care Fund’ has been created. The mandated fund has been created through
the movement of existing grants and resources. This transformational work is
being lead out by the two Health and Wellbeing Boards within Cheshire with
support from the national pioneer team.
We are committed to the development of a joint risk sharing agreement with
the Local Authority in respect of the Better Care Fund Plan. Work is being
finalised.

Does the CCG have strong
and robust leadership

As a C CG we have clinical representation throughout our formal statutory
committees such as our Membership Council, Governing Body,
Remuneration Committee, Quality and performance committee, Primary Care
quality group as well as our Programme Boards and working groups.
We have lay (public) representation throughout the CCG including Governing
Body, Governance and Audit Committee, our Health Inequalities and Equality
and Diversity group working groups.

2.3.2. Quality Premium
The ‘quality premium’ was established to reward CCGs for improvements in the quality of the
services that they commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and
reducing health inequalities.
The Quality Premium payment for achieving 2014-15 will be invested locally during 2015-16.
A summary of the position for 2014-15 is shown below:
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NHS Vale Royal CCG
Quality Premium 2014-15
Quarter 3 Summary Progress
Measure on Target – End
of Quarter 3

RAG

Reducing potential years of life lost from
amenable mortality (15%)

Yes

Y

Improving access to psychological therapies
(15%)

No

R

Reducing avoidable emergency admissions
(25%)

No

R

Friends and family test and patient experience
(15%)

Yes

G

Improved reporting of medication safety
incidents (15%)

Yes

G

Yes

G

National Measures

Local Measures
Proportion of people feeling supported to
manage their condition
(15%)

Other Criteria Related to Payment of Quality Premium - that providers meet the NHS
Constitution rights and pledges for patients in relation to:
NHS Constitution rights and pledges

Measure Achieved
(April – Feb 2015)

Referral to Treatment times

Yes

A & E waits

No

Cancer Waits- 62 days

Yes

Category A Red 1 ambulance calls

No

Both the provisional and final notifications of quality premium awards will be made early in
quarter 3, 2015-16.
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The quality premium is paid to CCGs in 2014/15, to reflect the quality of the health services
commissioned by them in 2013/14 and is based on the six measures that cover a
combination of national and local priorities.
In determining how the CCG should invest the quality premium award, they sought to ensure
that it was invested in ways that improve quality of care or health outcomes and/or reduce
health inequalities (in line with the regulations1).
A proportion of the Quality Premium Award 2013-14 was used to invest in a project to
support the delivery and monitoring of the Atrial Fibrillation (AF) - to support the Quality and
Safety Champion in Primary Care. In order to ensure that:
•

•
•
•

an optimal number of patients with AF receive appropriate anticoagulation
treatment after clinical assessment and evaluation of risks and benefits.
Demonstrating improved quality of life and increased health outcomes
(linking directly to the CCGs key vision and priorities);
patients will feel more supported to manage their health conditions;
the long-term numbers of avoidable admissions for catastrophic Strokes will
decrease and improved mortality rates for this cohort of patients across this
area;
raised levels of clinical education, learning and understanding in the best
practice treatment for AF.

2.3.3. Meeting the NHS Constitution Standards
At NHS Vale Royal CCG we are committed to improving outcomes: better health for the
population of Vale Royal, increasing the quality of care received by all patients whilst being
accountable custodians of the public purse. To achieve this, we need to deliver sustained
improvements against the NHS Constitution standards, NHS Outcomes Framework and the
seven sentinel indicators.
Incidence of Clostridium Difficile - At a provider level the target set was 17 cases for the
year. A total of 19 cases were found during this year (11 acute provider and 8 community
provider). In response to this non achievement as a CCG we have supported providers to
develop a C Diff Recovery Plan and have also taken an active role in a health economy wide
Infection, Prevention and Control Network group who are working hard on this agenda. This
includes working with colleagues from Public Health, other CCG’s, NHS England Area Team
and our Providers.
All cases of confirmed C Difficile undergo a root cause analysis investigation. For assurance
about the management of infection prevention and w hen there are outbreaks of HCAI the
CCGs requested and received an i nfection control reduction plan. As a C CG we have
representation at the strategic infection control group led by the NHS England Area team.
We also attend provider infection control and prevention committees.
It is important to note that within the figures identified there are a small proportion of cases
that are reoccurring episodes of C Diff. These reoccurring episodes are identified within our
aging population who through co-morbities and frailty may due to an acute episode and
subsequent treatment develop reoccurring C Diff.

1

The National Health Service (Clinical Commissioning Groups-Payments in Respect of Quality) Regulations
2013 (S.I. 2013/474)
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Reporting
Period

Commissioner : NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Constitution & Outcomes Framework Measures
NHS Code

Measure

Target

YTD

EB_1

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Admitted
Patients

90%

93.82%

EB_2

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Non-Admitted
Patients

95%

95.82%

EB_3

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Incomplete
Patients

92%

95.11%

EB_4

Diagnostic Waits - 6 week waits

99%

99.30%

EB_5

A&E Waiting Times - 4hrs Waits

95%

92.24%

EB_6

Cancer 2 Week Wait - All cancer two week wait

93%

96.03%

EB_7

Cancer 2 Week Wait - Non-suspected cancer
breast symptoms

93%

95.82%

EB_8

Cancer 31 day first treatment

96%

99.19%

EB_9

Cancer 31 day subsequent treatments - surgery

94%

100.00%

EB_10

Cancer 31 day subsequent treatments - anticancer drugs

98%

98.78%

EB_11

Cancer 31 day - Subsequent treatments radiotherapy

94%

97.96%

EB_12

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment -

85%

89.95%

EB_13

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment - NHS
screening referral

90%

98.72%

EB_14

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment consultant referral upgrade

n/a

85.37%
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2.3.4 Development and Performance of our CCG
As a CCG we recognise the increasing pressures in elective and non-elective care,
continuing health care, funded nursing care and learning disabilities services. To enable us
to commission good quality care, make improvements to the services locally for our
population, whilst at the same time contribute to the development of a more financially
sustainable health and care economy, we have to start to address such challenges. We are
working to ensure that there is a continued drive to the closer integration between health and
care services that can be achieved within existing allocations and the changes recognised
through provider contracts.
We have started the initial work this year in developing a new collaborative contracting
approach between our main acute, community, primary care and mental health providers
using either alliance or lead contractor models. The model will use the approach of a joint
resource to drive innovation, and fund collaborative working across the health economy as a
whole.
We believe that we are heading in the right direction using new approaches to ensure our
patients and population of Vale Royal are able to access the right service, at the right time,
closer to their homes.

2.4.

Sustainability report

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of peoples' lifestyles and
business choices are changing the world in which we live. We acknowledge this
responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to
minimise our footprint.
As an or ganisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable
future, however we consider neither the potential need to adapt the organisation's activities
nor its buildings and estates as a result of climate change.
The NHS places a s ubstantial burden on the transport infrastructure, whether through
patient, clinician or other business activity. This generates an impact on air quality and
greenhouse gas emissions. It is therefore important that we consider what steps are
appropriate to reduce or change travel patterns. During 2013/14 the CCG produced 18
tCO2e of CO2 emissions through Business Travel. This decreased to 9 tCO2e during 14/15.
Information for reporting waste, energy and ov erall carbon footprint in relation to property
now owned by NHS Property is to be provided by them. However, it will not be possible to do
this in 2014-15 as the CCG has not been given access to this information. We hope to do so
in 2015-16 subject to NHS Property Services being able to provide the relevant information.
The CCG has completed a review of its internal IT and photocopying needs. This was with
the prime intention of reducing the amount of paper used and ensuring that people only print
what is absolutely necessary. This includes a reduced number of printers and copiers that
will be accessed through key codes to allow for tracking of usage. Importantly, there is no
need for a s ignature to be appl ied in ink to paper to make its contents ‘official’. The
Electronic Communications Act 2000 c ontains provisions recognising the use of electronic
signatures. The signature can simply be t he name of the author typed at the bottom, an
inserted image of a scanned ink signature, or a specific digital signature that carries a certain
level of guaranteed authenticity. Where we have an em ail address, therefore, our default
position is to use it unless the communication contains patient or other confidential data that
is not appropriate for email. The alternative of printing a message, enveloping it, putting on a
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stamp on and sending it through the post is a waste of scarce resources. For similar
reasons, electronic documents should not be printed for filing without good reason.
Whilst recognising that we are a ‘ relatively’ small organisation we take our responsibilities
seriously. However, we recognise that our biggest impact can be w ith regards to how we
commission and procure services. In all of our commissioning and procurement processes
we ask all of our providers to ensure that they are committed to delivering the sustainability
agenda as detailed by NHS England and Sustainable Development Unit.

2.4.1 Environmental, social and community issues

NHS Vale Royal CCG this year supported NHS Change Day by encouraging the team to
make and c arry out pledges that together make a di fference. Our GP Chair, Dr Jonathan
Griffiths for example pledged to ensure all communication with patients and colleagues is as
clear and s imple to understand as possible and i s working to reduce the amount of
acronyms and jargon used in conversations with patients and colleagues.
The CCG is keen to support its employees to continue to ‘make a di fference’ and as an
organisation have supported charity days and events throughout the year, such as ‘wear it
pink’ and raising funds for Alzeimers UK.

2.5.

Equality and diversity report

The CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined
by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks.
The key functions that enable NHS Vale Royal CCG to make commissioning decisions and
monitor the performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an audi table manner)
that the needs of protected groups have been considered in:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Commissioning processes
Consultation and engagement
Procurement functions
Contract specifications
Quality contract and performance schedules, and
Governance systems
Human resources and workforce

52

Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS Vale Royal CCG core values, ensuring that we
commission services fairly and that no community or group is left behind in the changes that
will be made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS face, as outlined in the ‘Five
Year View’.
We will continue to work internally, and i n partnership with our Providers, community and
voluntary sector and ot her key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet our exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a range of
protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion/belief, gender
identity, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status.

Equality objectives
We are required to prepare and publ ish Equality Objectives to meet our Specific Duty as
outlined in the Equality Act 2010. Our plan is specific and measurable and we will update on
an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at sometimes in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce the
health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support
us to do this.
Our CCG Equality Objectives are:
•
•
•
•

To improve NHS Vale Royal CCGs understanding of the needs of the local population by
protected characteristic through engagement and other key sources data and pa tient
experience information
To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions
To ensure the equality of opportunity in employment and training provision
To improve the equality performance of Our providers

Equality delivery Systems 2
To help us set our Equality Objectives we are currently undertaking Equality Delivery
Systems (EDS) 2. NHS Vale Royal CCG has been assessed as “Developing/ achieving”
reflecting the need to fully embed equality and di versity. T he CCG is currently working
toward to improving its performance around the following EDS 2 indicators, over the next 2
years:
•
•
•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the health
needs of local communities
People, carers and c ommunities can readily access hospital, community health or
primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds
Papers that come before the Governing Body and ot her major Committees identify
equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to be managed

The outcomes and recommendations of the assessment will be pr esented to the CCG in
June 2015.
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Provider performance
All our key NHS providers have undertaken the EDS 2 assessment and have set equality
objectives in accordance with their requirements. We are working closely with our providers
to improve equality performance and access and outcomes for protected groups through
robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract schedule.

Human resources
In 2014/15 the CCG has launched a HR Framework which outlines the tasks that are being
undertaken to meet the organisation’s obligations under the Equality Act with regards to its
workforce. The CCG is also working towards implementation of the New National Workforce
race Standard. S tandard aims, to address the lack of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
representation at senior levels in the NHS, and t o galvanise cultural and organisational
change. The Standard, underpinned by commissioning and regulatory action, will also help
to address the treatment of BME staff including adverse outcomes throughout recruitment
and promotion, access to non-mandatory training, over-representation in disciplinary
procedures, bullying and harassment. The new standard supports the vision set out in the
Five year Forward View and the need to ensure NHS workforces experience inclusive and
non-discriminatory opportunities
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2.6.

Strategic report self-certification

Strategic Report Self-Certification, Accountable Officer
We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the statutory duties laid
down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
I certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which
are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework 2013. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes
improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan,
the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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3. Members’ Report
3.1.

The Composition of Our Membership Assembly

The table below details the members of the NHS Vale Royal CCG Membership Assembly.
Name and Role

Date

Dr Jonathan Griffiths
Chair and GP at Swanlow Practice
Dr Jean Jenkins
Governing Body Member (Mental Health & Learning Disability)
and GP at High Street Practice
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith
Governing Body Member (Medicines Management) and GP at
Danebridge Medical Centre
Dr Teresa Strefford
Governing Body Member (Quality and Patient Safety) and GP at
Oakwood Medical Centre
Dr Judi Price
GP at Willow Wood Surgery
Dr Alan Norman
GP at Firdale Medical Centre
Dr Maher Alasadi
Primary Care Lead
GP at Middlewich Road Surgery
Dr Nichola Bishop
Starting Well Programme Lead
GP at Witton Street Surgery
Dr Declan Kelly
GP at Weaver Vale Surgery
Dr Neil Thomas
GP at Launceston Close Surgery
Dr Simon Halpin
GP at Weaverham Surgery
Dr Stephen Kershaw
GP at Watling Street Medical Practice
Mr Simon Whitehouse – Standing Invite
Chief Officer
Mrs Lynda Risk – Standing Invite
Chief Finance Officer
Ms Tracy Parker-Priest – Standing Invite
Director of Governance and Partnerships

1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 – Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 – Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 – Current
1st April 2014 – Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
1st April 2014 - Current
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3.2.

The Composition of Our Governing Body

The table below details the Governing Body members and a l ist of their declarations of
interest.
Name and Role

Date

Dr Jonathan Griffiths

1 April 2014 –

Chair

Current

Mr Simon Whitehouse

1 April 2014 –

Chief Executive Officer

Current

 Academy Trust, Trent Vale, Stoke on Trent
 Wife works at the University Hospitals of North
Midlands

Mrs Lynda Risk

1 April 2014 –

 Nil declared

Chief Finance Officer Ms

Current

Ms Tracy Parker-Priest
Director of Partnerships
and Governance

1 April 2014 –

Mrs Suzanne Horrill

1 April 2014 –

Lay Member –
(Governance & Audit)

Current

Mr Terry Savage

1 April 2014 –

Lay Member (Patient &
Public Engagement)

Current

Dr Jean Jenkins

1 April 2014 –

Governing Body Member –

Current

 GP Partner at Swanlow Practice
 Partner of Dene Drive Property Partnership
 Swanlow is a member of Winsford Alliance GP
Federation
 Swanlow Practice provides cover (with payment)
to Elmhurst Intermediate Care Facility when their
GP is off site.
 Board Member of North West Leadership
Academy
 Working one half day a week for NHS Improving
Quality with the Horizons Team

 Nil declared

Current

Mental Health

Dr Fiona McGregor
Smith Governing Body
Member – Medicines
Management

Declaration of Interest

1 April 2014 –
Current

 Friendship with (member of staff employee) One
to One Midwifery

 Nil declared

 GP Partner, High Street Medical Practice
 Partner of Dene Drive Property Partnership and
case holder
 Practice is member of Your Practice Plus GP
Federation
 High Street Practice is a member of Winsford
Alliance Federation
 GP Partner at Danebridge Medical Centre
 Practice likely to become a m ember of 'Your
Practice Plus' and '4GPs' organisations who will
seek to do business with the CCG
 Practice is sometimes involved in GP research
projects organised by Keele University. There
are often small payment for recruiting patients
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Name and Role

Date

Declaration of Interest
and doing the research under the management
of the Keele GP research department
 CCG uses expertise in Danebrdige practice for
vasectomies which are paid for by CCG
 Currently involved in a chronic pelvic pain study
with Manchester University
 Danebridge practice has medical students

Dr Teresa Strefford
Governing Body
Member – Quality

1 April 2014 –

Dr Robert Pugh

1 April 2014 –

Secondary Care
Representative

Current

 Secondary Care Doctor
 Trustee of St Luke’s Hospice, Winsford
 Trustee and medical advisor to CLIMB, a
children’s charity related to metabolic disease
 Specialist Advisor for CQC inspection visits

Mrs Judith Thorley

1 April 2014 –

 Director at Judi Thorley Solutions Ltd

Executive Nurse/ Director
of Quality and
Safeguarding

Current

Caryn Cox
Director of Public Health,
Cheshire West and Chester
Council Governing Body
Member
Dr Helen Bromley

1 April 2014 –
August 2014

 Director of Public Health, Cheshire West and
Chester Council

1 October 2014
– 1 December
2014

 Public Health Consultant, Cheshire West and
Chester Council

1
December
2014 –

 Director of Public Health, Cheshire West and
Chester Council

Public Health Consultant,
Cheshire West & Chester
Council - Governing Body
Member
Dr Fiona Reynolds
Director of Public Health,
Cheshire West & Chester
Council - Governing Body
Member

Current

 Clinical Director of Quality
 GP Partner at Oakwood Medical Centre
 Practice involved in GP Federation

Associate of NDTi

Current

As illustrated above our CCG has 4 male Governing Body Members and 8 female Governing
Body Members. We held a total of 7 formal public and 6 informal Governing Body Meetings
during 2014/15, all of which were quorate.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.
A short biography of our Governing Body members can be seen in appendix two.
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Please see our CCG Governance Statement which details members of other committees
and sub-committees.
Details of our CCG employees can be found in section 1.2 Our Team on page 9.
The table below details NHS Vale Royal CCG Governance and Audit Committee
composition and its members:
Name and Role

Date

Mrs Suzanne Horrill
Chair – Lay Member
Terry Savage
Lay Member
Mrs Lynda Risk
Chief Finance Officer
Ms Tracy Parker-Priest
Director of Governance and Partnerships
Ged O’Sullivan
GP Member
Miss Jennifer Underwood
Risk and Performance Manager
Mrs Linda Elliott / Mrs Anne-Marie Harrop
Merseyside Internal Audit
Mr Robin Baker / Mr Paul Basnett
Grant Thornton, External Audit
Mrs Judith Thorley
Executive Nurse \ Director of Quality

1st April 2013 - Current

3.3.

24th June 2014 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st August 2013 - Current
1st February 2015 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st April 2013 – Current
25th November 2014 - Current

Pension Liabilities

Our employees are encouraged to join the NHS Pension Scheme. Please see note 4.5 for
the accounting policy note in the Financial Statements and Page 63 for the Remuneration
Report

3.4.

External Audit

Grant Thornton have been appointed as external auditors of the CCG to audit our Annual
Report and Statutory Accounts. The cost of this work is £66,000.

3.5.

Disclosure of ‘Serious Untoward Events’

Please see our Governance Statement where details of disclosures required for incidents
involving data loss or confidentiality breaches can be found. We can confirm that there have
been no s erious or untoward incidents relating to data security breaches, and no ot her
incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.

3.6.

Cost Allocation and Setting of Charges for Information

We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation and setting the charges for information.
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3.7.

Principles for Remedy

Our CCG encourages a positive, open and hone st approach to receiving and responding to
complaints. Complaints provide a valuable feedback about patients’ experiences.
Complaints made to the CCG are handled by the North West Commissioning Support Unit
in accordance with the local Council, Social Services and N ational Health Service
Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. The NHS Constitution and principles published by
the Health Service Ombudsman (Getting it right; being customer focused; being open and
accountable; acting fairly and pr oportionately; putting things right; and s eeking continuous
improvement). This supports us to ensure the good handling of complaints to improve the
quality of services for patients.
The CCG handles complaints about services that we commission, on behal f of our
population, from providers or about the exercise of any of our functions. We also investigate
more complex complaints where one or more organisations are involved, including NHS
England or other service providers or commissioners.
During 2014-15, the CCG has taken steps to improve the management of complaints by
delivering the service in-house, with the introduction of a Quality, Governance and
Compliance Team. Processes and procedures have been reviewed and revised to ensure
that complaint handling is efficient and e ffective, and t hat learning from complaints is
monitored. Each complaint is entered into a repository alongside Patient Advice Liaison
Service (PALS), MP letters and incident data to enable the monitoring of trends and patterns
in complaints and concerns raised by patients and healthcare professionals. This helps us
to detect systemic problems early by highlighting areas for improvement and
development. This information is reported to the CCG’s Incident and C omplaints Review
Group who analyse the information and consider any actions required, driving improvements
to the quality of services commissioned by the CCG and sharing lessons learned. The Chief
Executive Officer of the CCG personally signs off the CCGs response to every complaint
that we receive.

3.8.

Employee Consultation

Over the past year we have placed an e mphasis on em ployee engagement and
consultation, with the development of various communication channels. These channels
include:
•

•

•

•

Intranet: This is the primary channel for written communications and all internal
communications are made available here. All news, events, information cascades,
documents, policies, calls to action, charity and C SR work as well as engagement
items can be viewed here
Team brief: These happen every two weeks and are held at Bevan House and
presented by a senior manager. The content is pre-arranged and linked to key
messages from Senior Management Team and Executive Team meetings.
The brief is often filmed and made available via webex or other medium on intranet
shortly afterwards. Briefing notes are cascaded throughout the organisation after the
session and available on the intranet.
Friday briefings: These are provided by Simon Whitehouse (Chief Officer of both
CCGs) and are uploaded to the intranet with an email link then sent to all employees.
The briefs contain relevant information to the organisation, thoughts and reflections
from the Chief Officer.
Social media: Both CCGs have an ac tive Twitter account where key messages,
information and campaigns are shared with all audiences. S pecific teams such as
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•

our Practice Engagement Managers and Think Pharmacy team have their own
Twitter accounts to channel specific engagement messages
Practice Newsletter: This is sent via email on a weekly basis and c ontains key
organisational messages and updates as well as items that need to be actioned by
GPs and Practice Managers. The content and distribution is owned by the Practice
Engagement Managers.

We regularly seek the views of our members and employees via these mechanisms and via
line management supervision and Performance Development Reviews (PDR’s).

3.9.

Disabled Employees

Please see section 2.5 Equality and d iversity report that covers our policy in relation to
disabled employees.

3.10.

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response

In July 2014 N HS England issued revised core standards for Emergency Planning,
Resilience and R esponse (EPRR). The CCG conducted a gap analysis against the
standards and the CCG Incident Response and Business Continuity Plans were reviewed at
the same time.
On the 25th November 2014 a pape r was taken to the CCG Governance and A udit
committee outlining the process that had been undertaken and the Committee agreed that
that they had been pr ovided with “substantial” assurance that the CCG were compliant with
the standards and this was duly reported to NHS England who confirmed that they too had
“substantial” assurance.
The CCG continues to maintain an on call managers system, in conjunction with NHS South
Cheshire CCG, to ensure a 24/7 response.
There have been no requirements in year to activate the CCG emergency plans and t he
CCG continue to play a full part in the Local Health Resilience Partnership and relevant sub
groups.

3.11.

Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the Membership Assembly/Governing Body at the time
the Members’ Report is approved confirms:
•
•

So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the
clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and,
That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in
order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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3.12.

Remuneration Report

The following report provides the reader with financial information regarding the outcomes of
the Remuneration Committee. The table below details NHS Vale Royal CCG Remuneration
Committee composition and its members, (this is a joint committee with NHS South Cheshire
CCG):

Name

Position

Attendance

John Clough

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

3/3

Graham Bruce

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

3/3

Suzanne Horrill

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

3/3

Terry Savage

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/3

Jenny Williams

Human Resources
Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning
Support Unit

2/3

Dr Judi Price

GP and Clinical Member
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/3

Dr Ged O’Sullivan

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

2/3

Dr Philip Goodwin

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

1/3**

**Please note that Dr Philip Goodwin only came into this post part way through the year and
due to this has only been eligible to attend one Remuneration Committee.
This Committee met three times in 2014-2015. The purpose of the Committee is to advise
the Governing Body on the determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.

Remuneration of Senior Managers
‘Senior manager’ is defined as “those persons in senior positions having authority or
responsibility for directing or controlling major activities of the CCG”. This means those who
influence the decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decisions of individual
directorates or departments.
Our Remuneration Committee determined the salaries of the following Directors’ and senior
managers’ posts: Chair, Chief Executive and, Chief Finance Officer. The remuneration
packages for these senior posts were determined based on NHS England guidance: ‘Clinical
Commissioning Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior
manager also undertakes the Accountable officer role) and Chief Finance Officers for CCG’s’
and in light of the complexities of running a shared management team across two CCG’s.
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The NHS England guidance details a number of allowances that can be applied for differing
circumstances. These include a % increase for complexity and a % increase where joint
management arrangements exist. Both of these have been applied as per the Remuneration
Committee’s recommendations for the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. The
allowance relating to complexity % has been applied for the GP Clinical Chair salary. All
other CCG employed staff are covered by the Agenda for Change national terms and
conditions.
In line with NHS terms and conditions of service all senior managers (including the Chief
Officer) are appointed on permanent NHS employment contracts with a notice period of
three months for all employees at Director level.

Benefits
Senior managers may receive taxable benefits from the CCG lease car scheme as part of
their remuneration.

Pensions
All salaried Governing Body members had access to the NHS Pension Scheme, except for
our Lay Members. The scheme provides pensions on a final salary basis (see note 4.5 of the
Annual Accounts for further information).

Performance Management
Our CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all its employees. The Remuneration
Committee’s minutes state that the current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system
would continue to be the method by which performance and achievement of corporate
objectives were measured.

Termination packages
No termination costs or packages were agreed during 2014/15.
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Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2014/15

(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
Payments
(taxable) 1
(to nearest
£100)

£000

£00

45-50

22

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive 2
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.36 WTE)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.5 WTE)
Tracy Parker-Priest - Director of Partnership & Governance
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer 2
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.36 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.3 WTE)
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Terry Savage - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Caryn Cox - Director of Public Health 4
April 2014 - November 2014
Dr Fiona Reynolds - Interim Director of Public Health 4
December 2014 - March 2015

75-80
75-80

33

35-40

12

5-10

(bands of
£5,000)

All Pension
Related
Benefits3
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

0

45-50

7.5-10

85-90

Bonuses

Total

80-85
0-2.5

35-40

0

5-10

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

0

0

0

0
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Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2013/14

(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
Payments
(taxable) 1
(to nearest
£100)

£000

£00

45-50

20

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title

Mr Simon Whitehouse - Accountable Officer
April 2013 - March 2014 (1 WTE)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Chair
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.5 WTE)
Ms Tracy Parker-Priest - Director of Partnership & Governance
April 2013 - March 2014 (1 WTE)
Mrs Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2013 - March 2014 (1 WTE)
Dr Jean Jenkins - Governing Body Member
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Teresa Strefford - Governing Body Member
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.3 WTE)
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith - Governing Body Member
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Judi Price - Governing Body Member 5
April 2013 - April 2013 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Mrs Judith Thorley - Secondary Care Nurse
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Mrs Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member
April 2013 - March 2014
Mr Terry Savage - Lay Member
April 2013 - March 2014
Mrs Caryn Cox - Director of Public Health 4
June 2013 - March 2014

(bands of
£5,000)

All Pension
Related
Benefits 3
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

160-162.5

210-215

Bonuses

75-80

Total

75-80

65-70

30

35-40

10

65-70
107.5-110

145-150

15-20

15-20

35-40

35-40

10-15

10-15

0-5

0-5

5-10

5-10

0-5

0-5

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

0

0
65

Notes to Statements
1. The taxable benefits relate to the CCGs lease car scheme. For Simon Whitehouse and
Lynda Risk 64% of the benefit in kind is assumed to be gained from NHS South Cheshire
CCG and 36% from NHS Vale Royal CCG.
2. NHS Vale Royal CCG has a shared management team with NHS South Cheshire CCG
where the costs of a number of employees are shared between the two organisations. The
remuneration above displays the cost to NHS Vale Royal CCG only.
Simon Whitehouse - Total remuneration from both organisations is £125,000-£130,000.
Lynda Risk - Total remuneration from both organisations is £95,000-£100,000
3. The values in the All Pension Related Benefits column derive from a calculation that
follows the HMRC method to estimate the employer’s contribution to the increase in pension
entitlement for defined benefit pension schemes. These values are not shared between the
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG but are shown at the full amount for
both CCGs.
4. Caryn Cox and Dr Fiona Reynolds are employed by Cheshire West and Chester Council
and receive no remuneration from NHS Vale Royal CCG.
5. Dr Judi Price left her role on the Governing Body in April 2013.
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Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2014/15

Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse – Chief Executive
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Clinical Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.5 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Judith Thorley – Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at age 60

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2015

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2015
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

0-2.5

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2014

Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2015

£000

£000

£000

£000

30-35

90-95

431

24

455

0-2.5

5-10

20-25

90

18

108

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

80-85

458

25

483

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

70-75

402

1

403

Notes to Statements
NHS Vale Royal CCG has a shared management team with NHS South Cheshire CCG.
Simon Whitehouse and Mrs Lynda Risk are part of the shared management team; their values above are shown as the combined total.
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 1 April 2014 is the closing Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 31 March 2014 increased to represent inflation of 2.7%.
NHS Vale Royal CCG did not make any employer contributions to stakeholder pensions in 2014/15
Dr Jonathan Griffiths did not feature on the 2013/14 Pension Disclosure as his contributions for 2013/14 were not added to the NHS Pension Scheme until
2014/15. NHS Pensions cannot replicate the information for 2013/14, so a restatement has not been made. Values in the table above reflect the full Pension
contribution, including corrected opening and closing balances.
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Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2013/14

Name & Title

Mr Simon Whitehouse - Accountable Officer
April 2013 - March 2014
Mrs Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2013 - March 2014

Real
increase in
pension at
age 60

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at age 60

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2014

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2014
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

7.5-10

22.5-25

5-7.5

15-17.5

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2013

Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2014

£000

£000

£000

£000

25-30

85-90

303

117

420

25-30

75-80

348

98

446

Notes to Statements
NHS Vale Royal CCG has a shared management team with NHS South Cheshire CCG.
Simon Whitehouse and Mrs Lynda Risk are part of the shared management team; their values above are shown as the combined total.
NHS Vale Royal CCG did not make any employer contributions to stakeholder pensions in 2013/14
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GP Pensions
During the financial year the CCG has sought advice regarding the pensionable officer
status of GP Governing Body members. As a result of advice given during March 2015, the
CCG are now able to offer its GP Governing Body Members access to the NHS Pension
Scheme as an officer of the Organisation.
The CCG is in the process of implementing this in 2015/16 and retrospectively for 2014/15.
Consequently, the CCG made an accrual of £6,570 for the employers contribution at 14% in
the 2014/15 accounts. This amount is not included in either the salary or pension disclosure
tables above as it is still unknown whether the GP Governing Body Members wish to be part
of the scheme.

Pay Multiples
NHS Vale Royal CCG has a management sharing arrangement with NHS South Cheshire
CCG, it is the cost to NHS Vale Royal CCG that identifies them as “highest paid” and not the
total of that individual’s remuneration. The remuneration costs would typically be split 36%
NHS Vale Royal CCG and 64% NHS South Cheshire CCG.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS Vale Royal CCG in the financial year
2014/15 was £77,500 (2013-14, £77,500). This was 6.63 times (2013/14, 6.78) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £11,990 (2013/14, £11,436).
The complexity of the shared management arrangement means that consideration should be
given to the overall median total for NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG
which was £31,786.
In 2014/15, zero employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £4,830 to £77,500.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
To aid comparisons with similar organisations we have also disclosed below the pay
multiplies calculation of the combined management team for both NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG.
The remuneration of the highest paid director in both NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South
Cheshire CCG and in the financial year 2013/14 was £137,500. This was 3.94 times the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £34,875.

Off Payroll Engagements
Off payroll engagements are payments made by the CCG to employees outside of their
payroll system that are for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months.
All off-payroll engagements are subject to internal discussion regarding the appropriate
treatment of income tax, national insurance and superannuation contributions. These
include payments made to GP Practices for Membership Assembly sessions attended by
Member Practice Senior Partners. A contract of services for GP’s has been developed that
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includes clauses to allow the CCG to seek assurance regarding Tax and National Insurance
Contributions obligations.

Number
Number of existing engagements as at 31st March 2015;

17*

of which, the number that have existed for less than one year

1

for between one and two years

16

* 12 of the above represent payments made to GP Practice for their attendance at the CCG
membership assembly.

Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015

1

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses
giving NHS South Cheshire CCG the right to request assurance in
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested **

7

of which; assurance has been received

7

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

** National guidance recommends the CCG requests assurance from 20% of off payroll
engagements. Although there was one new engagement in 2014/15, the CCG requested
assurance from a sample of the engagements that had existed for longer than one year.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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4. Statements by Accountable Officer
4.1. Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Mr Simon
Whitehouse (Chief Officer) to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
•
•
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain
any material departures in the financial statements; and
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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4.2. Governance Statement by the Chief Officer, Simon

Whitehouse as the Accountable Officer of NHS Vale
Royal CCG
4.2.1 Introduction and Context
NHS Vale Royal CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health
and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The CCG was able to provide evidence that all conditions had been resolved and N HS
England concluded that the outstanding conditions had been met and resolved (22nd July
2013).

4.2.2 Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a s ound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and as sets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money.
I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical
commissioning group is administered prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.

4.2.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on ou r Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG and best practice.
The CCG can clearly demonstrate (throughout this Annual Report) the approach that it has
taken to comply with the main principles of the code•
•
•

Leadership
Effectiveness
Accountability

Relationship with Membership (the CCG does not have Shareholders

4.2.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
Key features of our CCG constitution in relation to governance are highlighted within the
Constitution Scheme of Delegation. This can be found in appendix D of the Constitution and
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details both the split of responsibilities and d ecision making between the Membership
Assembly and the Governing Body. The Constitution for the CCG was updated and
amended during 2014/15 in line with NHS England guidance and s igned off by all of our
members. These changes were approved in full by NHS England and the revised version
has been made available to the public via the CCGs website (link below).
http://www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/publication/9026-nhs-vale-royal-ccg-constitution
Information about our Membership Assembly and Governing Body, Remuneration
Committee and our Governance and Audit Committee can be found on page 57. Please see
appendix one for a diagram of our organisational structure.
The CCGs Clinical Commissioning Executive (CCE), which is joint group of both NHS
Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group and N HS South Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group, is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures
that the two Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on ar eas of commissioning
where this adds value and increases efficiency. The Clinical Commissioning Executive:
a)

develops and recommends the group’s five year
commissioning plans to the relevant Governing Body;

and

annual

b) provides assurance to the Governing Body that the group’s commissioning
intentions and plans are effective, efficient and economic; that plans are
informed by patients and the public; that they are being delivered and that
risks associated with delivery are being mitigated;
c)

ensures the shared management arrangements are working effectively and
are sustainable to deliver commissioning intentions for NHS South Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group;

d) has oversight of both group’s annual commissioning cycle;
e) through supporting structures and systems ensures that there is
continuous engagement with member practices on all aspects of its work;
f) approves or rejects business cases, within the agreed delegated authority;
The Clinical Commissioning Executive comprises the following members:
Membership Category

Organisation

GP Clinical Member

NHS South Cheshire CCG

GP Clinical Member

NHS South Cheshire CCG

GP Clinical Member

NHS Vale Royal CCG

GP Clinical Member

NHS Vale Royal CCG

Clinical Chair

NHS South Cheshire CCG

Clinical Chair

NHS Vale Royal CCG
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Accountable Officer

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Chief Finance Officer

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Executive Nurse

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Director of Partnerships and Governance

NHS South Cheshire CCG

Director of Partnerships and Governance

NHS Vale Royal CCG

Lay Member

NHS South Cheshire CCG

Lay Member

NHS Vale Royal CCG

Programme Board Clinical Chairs x 3

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Public Health Representative

Cheshire East Council

Public Health Representative

Cheshire West and Chester
Council

This group has met a total of 12 times this year, of which 11 were quorate.

The CCGs Quality and Performance Committee is a joint committee of both NHS Vale
Royal Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group, and is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures that the two
Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on areas of commissioning where this adds
value and increases efficiency. The Quality and Performance Committee provides
assurance to the Governing Body that;
a) quality and patient experience is central to the work of the group and that
systems and process are in place for monitoring and acting on patient feedback,
in particular quality issues such as complaints, Patient and Liaison Services,
Serious Untoward Incidents and Never Events;
b) services the group commissions are safe and effective, and lessons are
learnt from serious untoward incidents and never events;
c) there is continuous improvement in the quality of commissioned services;
in primary medical services and in patient outcomes;
d) that safeguarding statutory function and commissioners are being carried
out effectively at a local level;
e) the following sub-committees are authorised by the Governing Body and
are accountable to the quality and performance committee:
i.

Maternity Services Liaison Committee;

ii.

Provider Clinical Quality and Patient Safety Review Meeting;
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iii.

Safeguarding Monitoring Meetings.

f)

systems are in place to proactively identify and act upon early warning signs
of failing services;

g)

the group ensures it commissioning process is based upon reducing
health inequalities in access to, and the outcomes from healthcare.

The Quality and Performance Committee comprise the following members:
Membership Category

Organisation

GP Clinical Member

NHS South Cheshire CCG

GP Clinical Member

NHS Vale Royal CCG

Director of Partnerships and Governance

NHS South Cheshire CCG

Director of Partnerships and Governance

NHS Vale Royal CCG

Executive Nurse

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Clinical Quality Manager

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Lay Member

NHS South Cheshire CCG

Lay Member

NHS Vale Royal CCG

The following members are non-voting but
attend:
Programme Board Clinical Chairs x 3

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Medicines Management Representative

NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Safeguarding Nurse – Adult

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Safeguarding Nurse – Children

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Performance and Risk Manager

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Senior Quality Improvement Manager

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
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Quality Improvement Manager

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Quality Improvement Assistant

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Secondary Care Doctor Governing Body

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Financial/Contract Manager

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Service Delivery Manager/Primary Care

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Healthwatch

Cheshire East

Healthwatch

West Cheshire

This Committee has met 10 times this year, of which all were quorate.

4.2.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management
Framework
The CCG has in place a s trategy for the management of risk as part of its overall
governance arrangements. The strategy provides a c omprehensive guide to the CCG’s
approach to risk management, outlining committee and individual responsibilities. Key to this
strategy is setting out processes to identify risks to the organisation’s objectives and develop
plans and ac tions to address them. T his is then driven forward by ensuring that there is
continued and objective monitoring both internally and via the CCG committee structure.
The Governing Body, with support from Merseyside Internal Audit Agency, conducted a
workshop at the informal Governing Body meeting held in March 2014 to facilitate the
development of the Assurance Framework for 2014-15. This, along with the Operational
Plan 2014-16, then informed the development of the organisation’s Assurance Framework,
linking the strategic objectives and m apping long term potential risks and determining the
risk appetite against these risks.
The Internal Auditor conducted a review of the Assurance Framework in March 2015 and
determined that ‘an Assurance Framework has been established which is designed and
operating to meet the requirements of the AGS and provide reasonable assurance that there
is an effective system of internal control to manage the principle risks identified by the
organisation’.
The CCG reviewed and refreshed the contents of its Risk Management Strategy in
year. Programme Boards were given the mandate to manage risks ranked 10 an d
below. Those risks ranked 12 and above must have a ‘Risk Highlight’ form completed by the
risk owner which outlines the approach being taken to mitigate the risk, detailing controls in
place and as surance that can be taken. Risks are scored using the system based on
likelihood of the risk occurring and t he impact if the incident were to occur. Risks are
reviewed on a monthly basis by the Senior Management Team and by the Executive Team
to ensure the appropriate actions are in place and are on track. All operational risks and any
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risks ranked 12 and ab ove are reviewed by the Governance and A udit Committee during
2014-15. A full report is received at each meeting outlining, as well as all risks over 12, any
new entries, closures and downgrades of risks.
All risks have an Executive ‘owner’ as well as an operational lead with responsibility for the
day-to-day delivery of mitigating actions, developing controls and i dentifying assurances.
Work is ongoing to encourage risk management awareness on a day-to-day basis. Training
is planned during 2015-16.
Risks currently on the risk register have been identified from a number of sources including
internal audit review findings, through programme/project management and general
operational activity. These risks have been cross referenced to the Assurance Framework
and include:
•

Continuing Healthcare – service transfer and delivery – this service had been run
by the CSU on behalf of the CCGs across Cheshire. Concerns about the service
led to a decision to transfer the service ‘in-house’. This has now been completed
and is being hosted by NHS South Cheshire CCG on behal f of 5 C CGs across
Cheshire and the Wirral. The service is being managed through monthly contract
meetings involving all five CCGs and challenges in detail all aspects of the service.
Actions are in place to manage the back log of cases, including agreeing to extra
staffing. A joint committee is responsible for monitoring the service and meets
monthly with senior representatives from each of the CCGs and the Head of the
CHC service all attending. Monthly performance reports are provided to the CCG’s
Quality & Performance Committee.

•

Commissioning Support Unit – performance and SLA – performance management
measures were put in place for various areas of the service. Action plans were
developed for all identified service areas, which were closely monitored through
regular meetings and work between identified CCG and CSU leads for each
service area. Rapid development events were staged and an independent review
was commissioned by the CCG, leading to project reviews to support the
development of service outputs from the CSU. This work led to the decision to
transfer CHC and the management of incidents, complaints and FOI requests inhouse, both have which have been successfully completed. CHC as a shared
service (see above) and Incidents & Complaints management as a dedicated
South Cheshire and Vale Royal service. Business Intelligence, ICT,
Communications and HR continue to be monitored and reviewed against the
development plans put in place. This continues, alongside work with other CCGs in
the area and NHS England to determine how services will be provided under the
Lead Provider Framework in 2016-17 onwards.

•

Community Services – service delivery and performance – pressures within various
service areas provided by ECT Community Services have been monitored through
monthly contract review meetings attended by senior staff from ECT and the CCGs
(NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG). Regular reporting to the
CCGs through the Quality & Performance Committee and Clinical Commissioning
Executive which have raised challenges to the Trust. Service Delivery Improvement
Plans (SDIPs) have been developed jointly and a deep dive is taking place.
Monthly monitoring calls are also in place. In year the Trust has demonstrated
improved staffing/recruitment levels, has revisited its structure and introduced new
admin posts to support service delivery and is actively working with the CCGs to
address service issues. A board to board is planned to address ongoing concerns.

• Primary Care IT Funding - The revenue funding was transferred from NHSE to the

CCGs from April 2014, due to historic investments in IT the revenue monies were
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recalculated across Cheshire which left a gap from 2013/14 of £338,000 needed to
pay the current service provision to the CSU. Application for transitional funding
was submitted to NHSE to cover the notified gap for 2014/15. A total request of
£338,000 was requested for 2014/15 for both CCGs; we were notified in July that
although transitional funding for year 1 had been approved we were still left with a
£20,000 gap for South Cheshire and a £15,000 gap for Vale Royal. Reduction of
the highest support cost for Primary Care was planned, this is currently the COIN
infrastructure that provides all data lines to GP Practices for network, telephony via
N3 contracted links with BT, with a business case approved by NHS England and
the CCGs. Work is ongoing for the new MPLS contract, which it is hoped will bring
cost savings of approximately £150,000
We manage provider/contractor performance based upon business performance principles
of:
-

Clear targets and accountabilities;

-

Performance Tracking;

-

Effective review meeting structures;

-

Good Performance Conversations; and

-

Consequence of breach.

The principles highlighted above are the mechanism for which the CCG identify any failing
service. Taking the main Provider as an example (Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust) we can demonstrate below how we can highlight how a f ailing service will be
identified.
The CCG has established a c lear and ac countable Governance Structure for identifying
failing services within MCHfT. T here are two main sub committees of the main contract
performance review meeting, meeting monthly. T hese are the Finance and P erformance
Review Group and the Quality and Safety Committee with core membership including senior
staff from both organisations. A ll performance issues are initially discussed via these two
groups. Where there are items that cannot be agreed/disputes these are then escalated to
the main contract performance review meeting.
To identify performance issues within the Trust e.g. a failing service, key metrics are
discussed from the Trusts performance report and w here there are issues, the CCG
requests action plans for remedial action. The consequence of any non-compliance results
in escalation to the main performance meeting sanctions and/or a formal contract query in
line with the NHS Standard Contract. This is a defined process and the ultimate sanction for
non-compliance/consequence of breach is withholding of monies to the Trust as per the
NHS Standard Contract.
Our CCG Management Team and Governing Body Members have received training on
Counter Fraud delivered by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA); we have provided leaflets
and information to raise awareness. The CCGs Anti-Fraud Bribery and Corruption Policy
was updated in line with current guidance and best practice during 2014-15.
Equality Impact Assessments are carried out and are built into the Programme Management
Office processes that are being developed by the CCG. Reporting of incidents is encouraged
and policies are in place to facilitate this.
We also recognise our responsibility with regard to public consultation and engagement and
have been involved in activities throughout the year which have given our patient population
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an opportunity to raise risks. Our risk report is reviewed by our Governing Body in a public
meeting giving the public an awareness of the CCG’s current risks and the actions that are
being proposed or taken in order to mitigate and minimise them.

4.2.6 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control
Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, The CCG recognises that it is not possible, or on occasion
appropriate, to entirely eliminate risk. On this basis the Risk Management Framework
provides a process to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level and it can,
therefore, only provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The CCG’s Governance and Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of our internal
controls on behal f of the Governing Body. Controls in place include the Assurance
Framework and Risk Register, internal policies and reporting systems. Assurances are
received via internal and external audit, local counter fraud services, management and
committee reporting.
Throughout the year audits have been carried out to ensure the effectiveness of our control
systems, as well as seeking assurance on the effectiveness of services provided to us by the
CSU.
The Governing Body adheres to the principles of the CCGs Constitution and has identified
delegated authority to its sub committees to carry out assurance and scrutiny regarding the
arrangements for systems, processes and controls.
The CCG’s governance overview schematic presented below provides a l ine of sight
mapping out key business information that supports the operational arrangements of the
organisation and uphold its compliance requirements.
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Our Good Governance mechanisms and holistic overview:

During 2014-15 reviews of key policies and strategies have been considered by the
Governance and Audit Committee together with supporting operational systems. Key areas
have included Business Continuity; Information Governance; ICT systems; Standards of
Business Conduct; Anti-Fraud & Bribery, financial applications and safeguarding standards.
Updates on the approach taken to engage with stakeholders during the development of the
strategic plans have been observed to ensure equitable involvement. Also updates following
the assurance meetings with NHS England area team relating to performance activity and
findings from external inspections and/or peers assessments have been r eported
accordingly.
There is a formal committee structure which presents an ov erview of the statutory
governance and operational management meeting groups. All have separate terms of
reference to define the work remit and accountability reporting lines.

4.2.7 Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular person
identifiable data and i nformation. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides
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assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance policies and pr ocedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual mandatory information governance
training and hav e implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure
employees are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and i nvestigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and m anagement procedures and a
programme will be es tablished to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation. It is a requirement for NHS public sector organisations to achieve a level 2.
As a CCG we have achieved Level 2.

4.2.8 Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment. The evidence used has also been independently audited, with ‘significant
assurance’ given, prior to submission.
There have been no S erious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and no
other incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.
Information Governance Overview for SCCCG & VRCCG
Data Protection Act 1998
Access to Health Records Act 1990
• Freedom of Information Act 2000
• Access to Medical Reports Act 1988
• Health & Social Care Act 2012

Health & Social Care Information
Centre

•

Caldicott Guardian

•

A senior person responsible for protecting the
confidentiality of patient and service-user information
and enabling appropriate information-sharing.
SCCCG – Judith Thorley
VRCCG – Dr Nichola Bishop

National Register
HSCIC

Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)

NHS
Information
Governance
(IG)

Information Governance Toolkit V11

A senior person accountable for fostering a culture for
protecting and using data. Provides a focal point for
managing information risk and incidents and
concerned with the management if information assets.
SCCCG – Fiona Field
VRCCG – Tracy Parker-Priest
CCG Business Functions
• Commissioning Team
• Practice Engagement Team
• Local Delivery Team
• Quality Team
• Contract & Finance Team
• Medicine Management
• Safeguarding Team

CCG Toolkit Submission Requirements
st

Submission Themes (31 March)
• Information Governance Management
• Confidentiality & Data Protection Assurance
• Information Security Assurance
• Clinical Information Assurance

•
•
•
•
•
•

Data Flow
Mapping

Information
Asset Register

IG Policies
Information Governance Policy
Information Governance Strategy
Freedom of Information Policy
Confidentiality & Data Protection Policy
Corporate Records & Retention Policy
Subject Access Request Policy

•
•
•
•

IG Statement of
Compliance
N3

NHS Records
Management

ICT Policies
IT Security Policy
IT Joint Primary Care Registration Authority Policy
IT Network Infrastructure Policy
IT Laptop Devices & Remote Access Policy

Privacy Impact
Assessments
PIAs

•
•
•
•
•

Mandatory IG
Training

Registrations
Fair Processing Notice on Website
Information Commissioner Registration
NHS LA Scheme
Accredited Safe Haven (ASH) (S251)
Information Sharing Protocols
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4.2.9 Pension Obligations
As an em ployer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme
rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the regulations.

4.2.10 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with
the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.

4.2.11 Sustainable Development Obligations
The clinical commissioning group is required to report its progress in delivering against
sustainable development indicators. We are planning to develop plans to assess risks,
enhance our performance and r educe our impact, including against carbon reduction and
climate change adaptation objectives via a S ustainable Development Management Plan
(SDMP) during 2015/16. This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and
environmental sustainability across policy development, business planning and i n
commissioning. During 2015/16 we will be s etting out our commitments as a socially
responsible employer.

4.2.12 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use
of Resources
In order to obtain maximum benefit for patients from finite resources, we regularly review our
expenditure to ensure that it gets value for money. This is achieved by improving
commissioning to ensure that different services, programmes and i nitiatives work together
effectively. In addition, benchmarking tools are used to compare costs with other
organisations, and also by comparing costs of services commissioned against health
outcomes. These tools help us to improve the efficiency of the services provided to patients.
We strive to ensure that budget holders are clear of the responsibility that they have and the
decisions that they can make aligned to the Scheme of Delegation. E nsuring that the
ownership of budgets is not just held in the finance and c ontracting team helps to ensure
that there is wider organisational understanding of our collective responsibility to use all of
our resources effectively and efficiently. Applying a strong governance and assurance
framework around this further reinforces the control mechanism and m anages the risks
effectively whilst also facilitating an approach that improves outcomes for our local
population.

82

4.2.13 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk
Management and Internal Control
As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.

4.2.14 Capacity to Handle Risk
The following key areas describe our approach:
•

Leadership is given to the risk management process – Managing risk is everyone’s
business within the CCG. We also have developed clear lines of communication for
the identification and mitigation of risk via our Risk Management Framework that is
regularly reported and reviewed at both Governance and Audit Committee and
escalated as appropriate to Governing Body. Our Executives have clear
responsibilities and understand their role in implementing the effective approach
towards how the CCG handles risk. Risks are regularly reviewed at programme
boards, by the Senior Management Team and the Executive Team, with risks being
escalated as appropriate. The introduction of a new Programme Management Office
will give additional clarity to risk management, with clear reporting lines from project
and programme level through to senior management, Clinical Commissioning
Executive and on wards to Governance & Audit Committee and Quality &
Performance Committee and ultimately Governing Body.

•

Our Staff – Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to
their authority and duties. We have provided them with guidance and communicate
any direct learning and learning from good practice. This training has been provided
by Merseyside Internal Audit Agency. Additional training is planned in 2015-16.

4.2.15 Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and t he executive managers and c linical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on per formance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles
objectives have been reviewed.
The Governing Body and t he Governance and Audit Committee have advised me on t he
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Where appropriate they have provided advice and a pl an to address weaknesses and t o
ensure that continuous improvement of the system is in place. T hey have advised me on
the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Director of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
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opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Director of Internal Audit concluded
that:
Significant Assurance can be given that that there is a generally sound system of internal
control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally
being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent
application of controls could put the achievement of a particular objective at risk.
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
Assurance Framework
An Assurance Framework has been established which is designed and operating to meet
the requirements of the Annual Governance Statement and provide reasonable assurance
that there is an effective system of internal control to manage the principal risks identified by
the organisation.
Access to Services

Transparency and
Governance
Patient Participation
and Customer Service

•Significant assurance in respect of the Core Financial
systems since the transfer to a fully in house finance
team.
•Conflicts of Interest review which confirmed
improvements in the control environment.
•Risk Maturity evaluation which found a proactive
operational risk management culture
•Examination of the CCG's responce to the Francis, Berwick,
Keogh and Winterbourne recommendations and findings.

Informed
Commissioning

•Significant assurance in respect of Information Governance
systems and controls.
•CCG plans and actions to improve the efficiency of Personal
Health Budget arrangements

Higher Standards

•Recognition of the CCG development needs to improve
Programme and Project Management arrangements

Contribution to Governance; Risk Management and Internal Control enhancements:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Detailed insight into the overall Governance and Assurance processes gained
from liaison throughout the year with the Executive Team, facilitation of
Governing Body sessions at the start of the year and support to develop and
embed risk management.
Involvement with the organisation in respect of advice and guidance relating to
Governance and regular review of Governing Body papers.
Facilitation of committee effectiveness assessments for the Governance and Audit
Committee.
Ongoing discussion with lead officers, Lay Members and the membership
throughout the year.
Effective utilisation of internal audit including in year changes to the audit plan in
respect of support for Co - Commissioning and conflicts of interest.
Follow up, demonstrating significant progress against recommendations to improve
systems and controls.
Provision of MIAA briefings including Duty of Candour, Investigations,
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•
•

Regulation, Sustainability, Human Factors, Safe Staffing and Fit and Proper
Person Test.
Involvement through MIAA events, including CCG Lay Member Learning Series and
Audit Committee Chairs.
Engagement with MIAA Insights benchmarking and outcome reporting,
including CCG Assurance Frameworks, and Gifts and Hospitality.

Performance against Plan
The Internal Audit Plan has been delivered in accordance with the schedule agreed with the
Audit Committee at the start of the financial year. This position has been reported within the
progress reports across the financial year, with the final report concluding completion of the
Internal Audit Plan with the exception of the Better Care Fund review being completed
jointly with local authority audit colleagues.
Risk Based Reviews
The audit assignment element of the Opinion is limited to the scope and objective of each of
the individual reviews. Detailed information on the limitations to the reviews has been
provided within the individual audit reports and through the Audit Committee
Progress reports throughout the year. The schedule below provides a summary of the
reviews and overall objectives contributing to this element of the Opinion.
MIAA Outcomes and delivery
Audit reviews were conducted throughout the year, according to the agreed plan. Progress
was reported throughout the year, but a summary of assurances given is as follows:
None of the reviews received a high level of assurance; equally none received ‘no
assurance’.
The following reviews received significant assurance:
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Systems
Conflicts of Interest
Response to Francis, Berwick, Keogh & Winterbourne
Information Governance
IT Business Continuity

And the following reviews received limited assurance:
•
•
•

Outcomes Based Commissioning
Personal Health Budgets
Programme Management

In addition to the newly commissioned reviews, follow up work was carried out during the
course of the year and good progress was confirmed in all of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Systems
Contract Management
Governing Body Reporting
CSU Contract Management
QIPP
Safeguarding
Intermediate Care
Performance Management
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MIAA also supports the CCG in strengthening arrangements in governance, risk
management and i nternal control, for example carrying out a r isk maturity review and
offering advice on developing governance arrangements for co-commissioning.

4.2.16 Data Quality
The Clinical Commissioning Group continues to develop and improve the integrated
performance report which includes service quality, contract performance, financial
performance and pr ogress against Quality, Innovation, Prevention and Productivity (QIPP)
initiatives.
Our North West Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) provides a Business Intelligence service
to the Clinical Commissioning Group that supports the management of contract and ot her
data and the production of performance information. This service includes data validation
and contract challenges which are then reflected in the reported positions. Our Primary
Care Team also work closely with the Business Intelligence (BI) team to develop quarterly
data packs for our membership practices. The packs provide a CGG and practice level view
of planned care referral trends, outpatient attendances and g ives a br eakdown of the
specialities referred into and t he originator (from General practice, Consultant, AHP, other
healthcare professionals, self-referrals) making the referral. Our Practices are then able to
request patient level data if they wish to undertake any investigative work, such as pathway
audits. The BI Team and t he Primary Care Team are also developing a P rimary Care
Dashboard, which will draw relevant practice based information from a v ariety of sources,
into one area, for peer and benchmarking comparisons and identification future
commissioning opportunities.
Our Quality and Performance Committee has continued, throughout 2014/15, to review the
business intelligence data in in providing assurances to the Governing Body and its
Committees, so that informed and correct decisions can be made.
It is important to note that during 2014/15 the CCG has experienced significant challenges
with the delivery of strong Business Intelligence offer from the CSU. This has impacted on
our ability to fully discharge our duties or to fully demonstrate the outcomes of the changes
that we have put in place. This risk has been managed through the CSU SLA discussions
and has been highlighted to both the Governance and Audit committee and the Governing
Body. C lear action plans have been ag reed and SLA service improvement notices have
been served. The CCG was required to engage external support in order to help drive
improvement in the performance of our CSU.

4.2.17 Business Critical Models
I confirm an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance
of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Our business critical models and processes (so far) have been identified as risk assurance
and risk management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement
processes, policy planning, forecasting and c ommissioning of health services, quality
assurance processes, business management and corporate processes and governance
arrangements.
The CCG has embedded effective Quality assurance (QA) within governance processes
during 2013/14 and has continued this work throughout 2014/15. These are grouped under
three headings:
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•
•
•

Culture
Capacity
Control

Culture
Clear leadership from Governing Body members and Membership Assembly to accept risk
and develop a ‘no blame’ culture and willingness to learn lessons. The ‘no blame’ culture
encourages transparency to collaborate and l earn from our mistakes e.g. the current risk
assurance framework has been adopted by the Governing Body and is owned by the whole
organisation at all levels.

Capacity
We have used expertise in-house through our clinical leadership model and expert skills of
our staff i.e. safeguarding/financial and contracting skills. However, we have recognised our
limitations of capacity and used external expertise to ensure quality assurance i.e.
procurement from CSU, internal audits from MIAA, external clinical reviews from AQuA and
Utilisation Management, review skills on business processes from integral Solutions re CSU.

Control
We have a model of clinical leadership for quality and specific commissioning programmes
i.e. Ageing Well, Starting Well, Living Well, Quality areas. This gives strong accountability to
the Membership and the Governing Body.
The risk assurance framework is owned by the Governing Body on behalf of our
membership to ensure mitigation of risk and scrutiny of relevant issues. Risks are identified
by all members of the CCG, owned by Programme Leads and corporate risks are presented
to Governance and Audit Committee (and Governing Body) on a regular basis.
We have recently used a model of QA for the CCG whilst developing the Primary Care
CQUIN for 2014/15, clinical ownership being a key element for the success of the scheme.

1. Scope,
specify,
design

2. Build and
populate

4. Deliver
and use

3. Test

1. Scope – new ideas to deliver CCG priorities scoped by lead clinicians and managers
2. Build – presented to membership leads to populate with measureable outcomes
3. Test – re-presented
observations/comments

to

membership

as

detailed

outline

CQUIN

for

4. Deliver – became live in April 2014 for delivery
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The eight recommendations from the Macphearson report offer us a r obust checklist to
ensure our quality assurance processes meet good practice standards.
Recommendation 1
We have built QA into our risk assurance framework.
Recommendation 2
We have used specialist staff appropriately for QA and developing the CCG processes.
Recommendation 3
Clinical leaders/managers have been identified already for CCG priority areas.
Recommendation 4
The annual Report in the Accounting Officer governance statement confirms that appropriate
QA frameworks are in place. Business critical models are identified within the statement and
publically available.
Recommendation 5
The CCG has addressed the culture, capacity, capability and c ontrol elements of QA to
create a positive environment.
Recommendation 6
The CCG has further work to do in 14/15 to develop a plan to embed effective
processes/guidance and doc umentation to underpin QA within the organisation (including
handling public funds properly).
Recommendation 7
To develop a cross-departmental group (clinicians, managers, lay members) to share best
practice.
Recommendation 8
The CCG to assess its progress after 12 months from April 2014.

4.2.18 Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all-relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and r egulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and pow er has been clearly allocated to a l ead Director.
Directors have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity
to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
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4.2.19 Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Date: 21st May 2015

89

5. Annual Accounts
5.1.

Report by auditors to the Governing Body

90

91

92

put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view
on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria
published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all
significant respects, NHS Vale Royal CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31
March 2015.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Vale Royal
CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and
the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building, Liverpool. L3 1PS
26 May 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

2013-14
£000

1,469
119,554
(331)
120,692

1,328
114,283
(335)
115,275

Investment Revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

120,692

115,275

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year

120,692

115,275

4.1.1
5
2

1,226
1,064
(13)
2,277

1,116
1,030
(17)
2,129

4.1.1
5
2

243
118,490
(318)
118,415

211
113,253
(318)
113,146

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

4.1.1
5
2

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000
120,692

2013-14
£000
115,275

96

NHS Vale Royal CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2015
31 March 2014

31 March 2015
Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

8

9
10

Non-current assets held for sale

£000

£000
39
39

-

1,247
14
1,261

1,201
54
1,255

-

-

Total current assets

1,261

1,255

Total assets

1,300

1,255

(7,541)
(7,541)

(7,677)
(7,677)

(6,241)

(6,422)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

-

-

Assets less Liabilities

(6,241)

(6,422)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(6,241)
(6,241)

(6,422)
(6,422)

The notes on pages 100 to 124 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 96 to 99 were approved by the Governing Body on 21 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2015
General fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Balance at 1 April 2014

(6,422)

-

-

(6,422)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014

(6,422)

-

-

(6,422)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2015

(120,692)

(120,692)
-

-

(120,692)

-

-

(120,692)

120,873

-

-

120,873

(6,241)

-

-

(6,241)

General fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

-

Other
reserves
£000

-

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Commissioning Board balance at 1 April 2013
Changes in NHS Commissioning Board taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Commissioning Board Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2014

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(115,275)
-

(115,275)
-

-

-

(115,275)

-

-

(115,275)

108,853

-

-

108,853

(6,422)

-

-

(6,422)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Less movement in payables relating to items not passing through the SoCNE
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

9
11
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

(120,692)
(46)
(136)
(39)
(120,913)

(115,275)
(1,201)
7,677
(108,799)

(0)
(0)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Parliamentarty Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

10

-

(120,913)

(108,799)

120,873
120,873

108,853
108,853

(40)

54

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

54

-

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies

-

-

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

14

54

104,761
16,112
120,873

95,954
13,235
(336)
108,853

Cash Drawn
Total payment for the year paid by BSA on behalf of NHS Vale Royal CCG
Less 2012/13 Partially Completed Spells Accrual
Net Funding Received
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 201415 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to
the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial
Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular
policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another
public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be
provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they
cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by
HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for
under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took
place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss
resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and
expenditure entries.

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.2 Contracting outturn estimates
The forecast out turn for provider contracts are estimated based on the activity information available in conjunction with regular discussions with providers to
reach an agreed estimate of the contracting over/under performance. The actual activity information for providers will be available in June 2015.
1.6.3 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
1.6.4 Prescribing estimates
There is an average six week delay in receiving from the Prescription Pricing Department (PPD) the costs of prescriptions dispensed and a forecast year
position by practice. For 2014/15, the PPD has indicated that the final March 2015 figures will therefore not be available until mid May 2015. The figures
included in these accounts are therefore based on the actual figures received for Janury 2015, and an estimate for February and March 2015 (£2,814,503).
1.6.5 Partially Completed Spells Estimates
The cost of Partially Completed Spells are calculated by NHS Providers. These costs will be based on episodes of care that span over the year end (i.e. the
episode of care begins in 2014/15, but is not completed until 2015/16). Estimated costs for partially completed spells for NHS bodies have been included only
for those organisations that include them in their own statutory accounts.
1.6.6 The Maternity Pathway Payment System
The Clinical Commissioning Group is obliged to make payment to NHS providers covering the whole of the maternity pathway, at the point at which the patient
presents for treatment. This results in an amount being paid to NHS providers ahead of the completed episode of care, and a resultant prepayment for the
Clinical Commissioning Group. The estimated prepayment for Maternity Pathways for NHS bodies has been included only for those organisations that include
them in their own statutory accounts.
1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration
receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned
but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers
NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets and
liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The assets are measured at fair
value and the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is
recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance income. The interest cost during
the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are
recognised in the General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.
1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the
consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs
when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control;
or,
·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate
assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.10.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair
value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their
re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the
end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the
location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees
but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and
depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in
expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from
a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the
reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure
restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to
operating expenses.
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1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning
group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
·                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·                Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating
system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·                The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·                The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·                The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·                How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·                The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·                The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
1.11.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are
initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at amortised
replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant price increases, as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is held at
historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.
1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets,
less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The
estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the
asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual
values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has
been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption
of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.13

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as
described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred
income is recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.14

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached
to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.
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1.16

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

1.16.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in
calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and
subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.
1.16.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.17

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation
to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.18

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of
the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.19

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·                All employee early departures: 1.30%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.20

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.21

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes
under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of
claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and
when they become due.

1.22

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the
scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.23

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it
is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.24

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been
transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.24.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value
cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the
financial asset.
1.24.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.
1.24.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the other three
financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses.
Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
1.24.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest
method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value
of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit
and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the
receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.25

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of
the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.25.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
1.25.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value
cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
1.26

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is
not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output
tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.27

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning group has no
beneficial interest in them.

1.28

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By
their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.
They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been
made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as
normal revenue expenditure).
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1.29

Retrospective Continuing Health Care Claims
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the
scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.30

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of which are subject to
consultation:
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2014-15
Total

2014-15
Admin

2014-15
Programme

2013-14
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

11
312
8
331

0
10
3
13

11
302
5
318

259
76
335

Please identify any significant Revenue here
Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services
3. Revenue
2014-15
Total
£000
From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2014-15
Admin
£000
197
134
331

2014-15
Programme
£000
13
184
134
13
318

2013-14
Total
£000

106

203
132
335
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2014-15

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin
Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Programme
Other
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,214
102
154
1,469

1,188
102
154
1,443

26
26

1,010
87
129
1,226

984
87
129
1,200

26
26

203
15
25
243

203
15
25
243

-

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

1,469

1,443

26

1,226

1,200

26

243

243

-

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

1,469

1,443

26

1,226

1,200

26

243

243

-

2013-14
Total
Employee benefits 2013/14
£000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Admin
Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

Programme
Permanent
Other
Employees
£000
£000

Total
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,108
93
126
1,327

1,108
93
126
1,327

-

935
79
102
1,116

935
79
102
1,116

-

173
14
24
211

173
14
24
211

-

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

1,327

1,327

-

1,116

1,116

-

211

211

-

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

1,327

1,327

-

1,116

1,116

-

211

211

-
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2014-15
Permanently
Number

Total
Number
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social Care Staff
Other
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2013-14
Total
Number

Other
Number

2
25
1
3
31

1
24
1
3
29

1
1
2

22
1
2
25

-

-

-

-

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014-15
Number
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2013-14
Number
119
31
4

2014-15
Number
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

138
25
6

2013-14
Number
-

£000
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

£000

-

-

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2014-15
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

-

2014-15
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

2014-15
Total
Number
-

£
-

-

Departures where special payments
have been made
Number
£
-

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total

Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-
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4.5

Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found
on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary
of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal
to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting
date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for
the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing
suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March
2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme
(England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from
The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the
advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
4.5.3 Scheme Provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the
benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable
pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the
Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount
permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the
twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail
Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively
through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after
retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other
Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2014-15
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2014-15
Admin
£000

2014-15
Programme
£000

2013-14
Total
£000

1,176
293
1,469

933
293
1,226

243
0
243

1,060
267
1,327

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·          Assets carried at amortised cost
·          Assets carried at cost
·          Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services
·          Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs

1,218
65,795
16,540
0
14,504
129
510
1,306
45
271
172
696
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
68

559
29
45
0
0
129
0
4
42
91
18
36
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
68

659
65,765
16,495
0
14,504
0
510
1,302
3
180
155
660
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

992
65,345
16,292
0
12,986
107
487
159
55
75
96
132
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
73

0
1
0
16,716
16
0
828
305
248
0
0
15
0
0
172
1
119,554

0
1
0
0
0
0
1
28
0
0
0
14
0
0
0
0
1,064

0
0
0
16,716
16
0
828
277
248
0
0
1
0
0
172
1
118,490

0
0
0
16,437
0
0
630
150
249
0
0
6
0
0
0
11
114,283

Total operating expenses

121,023

2,290

118,733

115,610
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
6.1. Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

2014-15
Number

2013-14
Number

2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

3,304
3,081
93%

20,021
18,862
94%

2,443
2,156
88%

13,851
13,569
98%

1,518
1,160
76%

85,487
84,256
99%

1,138
873
77%

82,003
80,735
98%

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000
-

-
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£000
-

692
692

2013-14
Total
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000
11
11

134
134

703
703

The Clinical Commissioning Group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. In 2014/15 charges were based on actual occupation including void
spaces, 2013/14 comparatives were on an agreed transitional rent based on annual property cost's.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years, including void spaces, has not yet been
agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Land
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£000
-

-

2013-14
Total
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000
11
21
-

-

11
21
-
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8. Property, plant and equipment

2014-15

2014-15

Information
technology
£000

2013-14

Furniture &
fittings
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

Cost or Valuation at 1st April

-

-

-

-

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation At 31st March

21
21

18
18

39
39

-

Depreciation 1st April

-

-

-

-

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31st March

-

-

-

-

Net Book Value at 31 March

21

18

39

-

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted
Total at 31st March

21
21

18
18

39
39

-

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

21
-

18
-

39
-

-

Total at 31st March

21

18

39

-

Asset financing:

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Information
technology
£000's

Furniture &
fittings
£000's

Total
£000's

Total
£000's

Balance at 1st April

-

-

-

-

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
At 31 March

-

-

-

-
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8. Property, plant and equipment continued

8.2 Economic lives
Minimum Life
(years)
Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Maximum Life
(Years)
0
0
0
0
5
8

0
0
0
0
5
8
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9. Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments
and accrued income

Current
2014-15
£000

-

687
389
125
4
(4)

-

-

-

-

-

2
1,247

Total current and non current

1,247

-

1,201

-

1,201

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total
9.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

Non-current
2013-14
£000

335
666
95
149
(0)

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

Current
2013-14
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000

147
4
2
153

276
276
2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

Balance at 1 April 2014

-

-

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2015

-

-
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10. Cash and cash equivalents
2014-15
£000
Balance at 1 April 2014
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2015

54
(40)
14

2013-14
£000

54
54

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

14
14

54
54

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts

-

-

Balance at 31 March 2015

14

54

Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above

-

-
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11. Trade and other payables

Current
2014-15
£000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

1,080
553
3,790
39
1,988
16
19
56
7,541

Total current and non-current

7,541

Current
2013-14
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000
-

Non-current
2013-14
£000

2,262
373
4,244
21
16
19
742
7,677

-

7,677
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12.

Financial instruments

12.1

Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a
body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial
reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and
internal auditors.

12.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and
sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure
to currency rate fluctuations.
12.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings
are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The
clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
12.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other
12.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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12. Financial instruments continued
12.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

Available for
Sale
2014-15
£000

Total
2014-15
£000

-

-

-

-

-

335
95
14
2
446

-

335
95
14
2
446

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Loans and
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Available for Sale
2013-14
£000

Total
2013-14
£000

-

-

-

-

-

687
125
54
866

-

687
125
54
866

12.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2014

Other
2014-15
£000

-

Total
2014-15
£000
-

1,632
5,875
7,507

Other
2013-14
£000

1,632
5,875
7,507

Total
2013-14
£000
-

2,635
4,265
6,900

2,635
4,265
6,900
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13. Intra-government and other balances
Current
Receivables
2014-15
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:

Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2014

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

-

204
776

-

331
670
1,001

-

340
1,292
1,632

-

92

-

4,929

-

1,247

-

7,541

-

Current
Receivables
2013-14
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities

Current
Payables
2014-15
£000

1
153

·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2015

Non-current
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Current Payables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

122

-

161
676

-

431
645
1,076

-

182
2,453
2,635

-

3

-

4,206

-

1,201

-

7,678

-
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14. Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals in 2014-15 are as follows:

Name

Role in CCG

Role within related party

Related party

Dr Jonathan Griffiths
Simon Whitehouse
Dr Jean Jenkins
Dr Jean Jenkins
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith
Dr Teresa Strefford
Dr Judi Price
Dr Robert Pugh

Chair
Chief Officer
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Secondary Care Representative

GP Partner
Spouse is employed by
GP Partner
Member
GP Partner
Member
GP Partner
GP Partner
Trustee

Swanlow Practice
University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
Winsford High Street Practice
Your Practice Plus
Danebridge
Your Practice Plus
Oakwood Medical Centre
Willow Wood
St Luke's Hospice

Payments to
Related Party
£000
111
2,231
107
385
116
59
273

Receipts from
Related Party
£000
-

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000
35
165
17
6
75
6
31
28
133

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000
-

Payments to
Related Party
£000
63
2,469
81
271
22
267

Receipts from
Related Party
£000
-

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000
12
770
29
119
25
1

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000
-

Details of related party transactions with individuals in 2013-14 are as follows:

Dr Jonathan Griffiths
Simon Whitehouse
Dr Jean Jenkins
Dr Fiona McGregor Smith
Dr Judi Price
Dr Robert Pugh

Role in CCG

Role within related party

Related party

Chair
Chief Officer
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Secondary Care Representative

GP Partner
Spouse is employed by
GP Partner
GP Partner
GP Partner
Trustee

Swanlow Practice
University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust
Winsford High Street Practice
Danebridge
Willow Wood
St Luke's Hospice

For both 2013-14 and 2014-15 the Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the two years the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions
with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent body.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and
local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Cheshire West Council.
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15. Losses and special payments
15.1 Losses
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping Losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned
Total

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
-

Total Number of
Cases
2013-14
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2013-14
£'000

-

-

-

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
-

Total Number of
Cases
2013-14
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2013-14
£'000
-

-

15.2 Special payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
-
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16 Contingent Liabilities
During 2013/14 and 2014/15 the Clinical Commissioning Group has had no contingent liabilities.
17 Operating Segments
International Reporting Standards (IFRS) require financial performance to be analysed across key decision making segments.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segments; commissioning of healthcare services.
18 Impact of IFRS
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group in the 2014/2015 reporting period or 2013/14
19 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group or consolidated group.
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20. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2014-15
Target

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

2014-15
Performance

2014-15
Duty Achieved?

2013-14
Target

2013-14
Performance

2013-14
Duty Achieved?

124,049

121,064

Yes

118,688

115,610

Yes

39

39

Yes

0

0

NA

123,679

120,693

Yes

118,353

115,275

Yes

0

0

NA

0

0

NA

0

0

NA

0

0

Na

2,708

2,277

Yes

2,440

2,130

Yes
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Appendix 2:
NHS Vale Royal CCG Governing Body Biographies

Dr Jonathan Griffiths - Chair
Jonathan Griffiths is a GP at Swanlow Practice in Winsford, Cheshire, and
Chair of NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Jonathan qualified from Manchester University in 1994. He worked as a junior
doctor in the West Midlands and did his GP training in South Birmingham. He
then worked as a GP for 7 years in South Staffordshire, where for a while he
was involved as a m ember of the Professional Executive Committee for the
local PCT. In 2005 he moved to work at Swanlow Practice in Winsford.
He has been involved in commissioning in Vale Royal since Practice Based
Commissioning (PBC) first developed a few years ago, and was Chair of Vale
Royal PBC group before the NHS reforms led to the creation of Clinical
Commissioning Groups. He is a m ember on the board of the North West
Leadership Academy. His professional interests include GP commissioning
and Clinical Leadership.
You can follow his blog on t he CCG website at www.valeroyalccg.nhs.uk/
news-and-events/blog and on Twitter @DrJonGriffiths

Simon Whitehouse - Chief Officer
Simon Whitehouse is the Chief Officer for both NHS South Cheshire CCG and
NHS Vale Royal CCG. He is committed to delivering the best health services
for the population of Vale Royal and South Cheshire.
Simon has worked in the NHS for over 15 y ears in a num ber of roles. He
graduated as a Physiotherapist in 1995 having trained at the Robert Jones &
Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital before working for several years as a
clinician at the University Hospital of North Staffordshire. From that clinical
post Simon moved to a post in the Industrial and Employment Relations
Department of the Chartered Society of Physiotherapy based in London. In
2002 Simon joined the national pay team at the Department of Health and the
Modernisation Agency. He worked with a n umber of organisations and
Strategic Health Authorities on the introduction of the new pay system.
In 2004 S imon joined Central Cheshire PCT as Director of Workforce
Modernisation and t hen subsequently took over as Director of Primary Care
where he led on the commissioning of all the PCT’s Independent Contractors.
He completed his Masters in Change Management and Leader ship with
Manchester University in 2009 and has an interest in organisational and
system change, believing that good leadership is at the core of all effective
teams.
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Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
Lynda is a chartered accountant by profession and has worked in the NHS for
nearly 20 years. After qualifying, Lynda moved to the NHS in Wales initially in
audit and then as Associate Director of Finance, looking after the financial
accounts, a number of secondary care contracts and GP fund holding. After a
period of 4 y ears Lynda moved to the North West Regional Office as the
primary care finance lead for the North West Region, and became the North
West Red Book expert!
With the changes of government Lynda became involved in the development
of many primary care initiatives including PCGs, PMS, PDS and ultimately
PCTs. Feeling the need to get back to the coal face, Lynda moved to South
Cheshire and bec ame the Head of Finance for the Central Cheshire and
Crewe and D istrict PCGs, this involved managing a dev olved PCG based
financial budget and a contract portfolio including Mid Cheshire NHST. After
the advent of PCTs, Lynda moved into the commissioning team, taking on
performance, information and c ontracting and their related management
accounting functions. This ultimately involved the development and
implementation of payment by results. As the contracting function became
more complex and the PCTs in East and Central Cheshire merged, Lynda
became more focused on the contracting agenda.

Tracy Parker-Priest - Director of Governance and
Partnerships
Tracy is a qualified Nurse by profession having worked in both English and
international healthcare for the last 20 years. After qualifying she participated
in the NHS Management Trainee Scheme, and then went onto hold
management positions in the acute sector, Ambulance Trust, NHS North West
Primary Care Department and Police Authority. Tracy then went onto spend 8
years with the Audit Commission as the Senior Health Consultant across the
North West. Tracy enjoyed this role as it provided an opportunity to support
improvements in the quality of patient care. Tracy had a strong desire to bring
this knowledge, skill, and s ervice improvement back to NHS on her return.
Tracy has also worked internationally in Canada as a Healthcare Consultant
within private industry.
Tracy Joined NHS Vale Royal CCG in 2012. During this time she was
selected to take part in the Nye Bevan NHS North West Leadership Academy
Programme in 2013. Tracy is a f irm believer of front line staff being able to
influence the management of NHS Services.
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Dr Teresa Strefford - GP and Quality and Performance Lead

Teresa qualified from Leeds Medical School in 1997 and w ent on t o do her
GP training in Knaresborough and Harrogate. In 2001 she moved to Cheshire
and was GP Partner on the Wirral before becoming a pa rtner at Oakwood
medical Centre in 2004. In her clinical practice she takes a particular interest
in women’s health as well as being prescribing lead for the practice.
She became involved in commissioning initially as part of the PBC group. She
became involved in the CCG in 2011 when she took on the role of Lead for
Quality and Patient Safety. She was elected to the Governing Body in 2013.

Judi Thorley - Executive Nurse Lead
Judi is a Registered General Adult Nurse and Registered Learning Disability
Nurse with over 27 y ears’ experience. Judi has held various leadership
positions in different organisations within the NHS, leading service change
and development at a local, regional and national level.
Judi is one of only 2 Registered Learning Disability Nurses to have been
selected for the Kings fund, Johnson & Johnson Nurse Leadership
programme in 2002. This opportunity increased Judi’s interest in effecting real
change for those most vulnerable in our society and led to her undertaking a
Master’s degree in Organisational Leadership in Health and S ocial Care at
Nottingham University, graduating in 2006.
Passionate about high quality care for all Judi likes to work with
patients/service users, carers, partners and staff to listen and hea r real life
experiences to collaboratively improve services.
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Dr Robert Pugh
Bob comes from Bolsover in North Derbyshire and q ualified as Doctor in
Leeds in 1971. After training posts in Yorkshire, Edinburgh, Glasgow and at
Alder Hey in Liverpool, he became a second Consultant Paediatrician at
Leighton Hospital in November 1978.
He also continued for a few years, his research work started in Liverpool
associated with children with severe visual impairment and ot her disabilities
which led to national publications and w ith colleagues set up the first multi
professional visual assessment team in the UK.
At Leighton as a C onsultant, as well as a bus y clinical workload, he hel ped
develop the children’s home nursing team and continued and dev eloped
specialist interests in children with cancer (in conjunction with Alder Hey),
neurodisability and epi lepsy. He was clinical director and Child health
strategic lead for over 15 years and the Trust’s lead for Child Safeguarding
until 2008.
In 2008, he retired from active clinical practice to continue his other interest of
medical education (mainly Undergraduate teaching) and left this post in July
2013 maintaining some contacts with the University of Manchester medical
school. Bob joined both CCG’S in September 2013 as the secondary care
doctor (consultant) to the governing body. He is a t rustee of St Lukes’s
Cheshire Hospice since 2013. He has recently become a member of the CQC
cohort of doctors acting as members of hospital inspections teams.

Terry Savage - Lay Member, Patient and Public Engagement
Chair of Health Inequalities
Terry spent 25 years as a trade union official starting his career in Leicester
covering the Northants and Peterborough areas before moving to Birmingham
and then Nottingham. He spent the last 15 years of his career as a national
negotiating officer based in the union head office in Manchester.
Terry was appointed as a non-executive director by Central Cheshire PCT in
2003 and w as then appointed to the reorganised Central and E astern
Cheshire PCT. He was appointed chair of the PCT community services
(CECH) from 2007 which operated as an arm’s length body reporting to the
PCT. Terry remained chair of CECH until they were taken over by Eastern
Cheshire NHS Trust in April 2011. He was appointed to the Vale Royal
Governing Body as the Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement in
2012.
Terry sat as an i ndependent member of the Cheshire Police Authority from
2006 – 2012 when it was abolished to make way for the incoming Police and
Crime Commissioner. He also served as the chair of the Cheshire branch of
the national charity Crimestoppers 2011 – 2014.
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Suzanne Horrill - Lay Member, Chair of the Governance and
Audit Committee
Suzanne Horrill is currently the Lay Member - Governance and Audit for Vale
Royal CCG. She has responsibility as Chair of the Governance and Audit
Committee and as a member of the Governing Body for ensuring the CCG
embraces good and effective governance.
Suzanne graduated as a Chartered Accountant in 1996 ha ving trained at
Price Waterhouse first in Liverpool then in Manchester before working for
several years in Internal Audit at Airtours plc. From that post Suzanne moved
back into practice at Ernst & Young as Senior Manager in their Business Risk
Services division based in Manchester.
In 2007 S uzanne moved into the public sector and j oined Transport for
Greater Manchester (TFGM) as their Head of Risk and Assurance.

Dr Jean Jenkins - GP and Mental Health and Learning
Disability Lead
Jean qualified as a doctor in Nottingham and then trained as a GP in greater
Manchester. She worked as a GP partner in Leeds until 1995. On moving to
Cheshire she worked in mental health becoming and as sociate specialist in
old age psychiatry and obtaining a Master’s Degree in Psychiatry from Keele,
with the dissertation being on the management of delirium on acute medical
wards. In 2006 s he returned to General Practice becoming a pa rtner in a
small practice in Winsford.
She has maintained her interest in Mental Health and has been i nvolved in
the commissioning of services in the local area initially as part of the PBC
group and more recently as part of the CCG. Jean's main responsibilities are
for Mental Health and joint commissioning of services with the Local Authority.
She is the Vale Royal CCG GP representative on t he Cheshire West and
Chester Health and Wellbeing Board.
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Dr Fiona McGregor-Smith - GP and Medicine Management
Lead
Fiona attended St Andrew’s University followed by Manchester University and
qualified in 1986. She worked as a junior doctor in Manchester and Leighton
Hospital and, after combining locum work and travelling in Australia,
completed her general practice training in Nantwich, Cheshire. She has been
a partner at Danebridge Medical Centre since 1990 and has held roles as a
GP adviser for the Health Authority and the Cheshire Community Health Care
Trust.
Currently she works three days a w eek at Danebridge where, in addition to
clinic commitments and teaching medical students, she undertakes the role of
executive partner and has a particular interest in family planning. One day a
week is spent as the prescribing lead on the Vale Royal Commissioning
Group Executive Board. For the last 18 m onths she has also been a GP
appraiser.

Caryn Cox - Director of Public Health Cheshire West and
Chester Local Authority (April 2014 – October 2014)
Caryn Cox was the Director of Public Health for Cheshire West and Chester
from 2012 – 2014. She has a wide range of experience with over 25 years
working strategically in the private sector, local government and the NHS
across a wide range of health issues –predominantly based in the south west.
A Chartered Environmental Health Practitioner by background, Caryn has a
particular interest in how the wider and s ocial determinants of health can
reduce health inequalities - particularly employment, housing, transport,
sustainability and the environment. She was seconded to work on the
Healthy Cities programme at the World Health Organisation in Denmark and
also in 1994 to the EU in Strasburg.
Caryn is an educational supervisor for Consultants in training and is a
specialist visiting lecturer at the Universities of Birmingham and
Loughborough.
In her spare time Caryn has been a member of St John Ambulance for over
35 years, she works with various Ministries of Health in Africa through a UK
registered NGO and has recently completed building an eco-house.
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Fiona Reynolds – Interim Director of Public Health Cheshire
West and Chester Local Authority (December 2014 –
Current)
Fiona Reynolds is the interim Director of Public Health (DPH) for Cheshire
West and Chester Council (CWC)
The DPH leads the Public Health Team and the work covers a broad remit of
health improvement, health intelligence and health protection.
CWC took on responsibility for Public Health in April 2013. This means that
the council is leading on improving the public's health across the borough.
The work is broad, and r esponsibilities for different aspects sit across the
council, not only within the Public Health Team. For example, targets include
children's educational readiness and improving road safety.
My goals are to support CWC in increasing HEALTHY life expectancy, reduce
health inequalities in our borough and s upport teams to play their part in
improving the public's health.
In the last year, the Team have worked hard to develop the intelligence and
information the Council needs to shape interventions. We have developed
ward profiles, profiles for our two Clinical Commissioning Groups and
developed a num ber of dashboards that provide at glance information.
The Team has also been working hard on re-commissioning all of the Public
Health services to ensure that we are providing the right help/support for
people at the right time - to improve health and r educe inequalities.
We've also been working to ensure that the health protection systems are
safe and effective. This means that we can respond to incidents in partnership
with health services but, more importantly, prevent incidents happening in the
first place. If there's anything we can support you with, please get in touch.
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